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To provide full support to the Communications Authority in fulfilling its vision that Hong Kong has the world-class

communications services to meet the challenges of the information age.
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We are committed to -

Public - Fulfilling the needs and expectations of the community

* Industry - Providing a fair regulatory environment conducive to innovation and business investment

* Economy - Maintaining Hong Kong's position as a preeminent communications centre in the region to support economic
development

» Staff - Maintaining a cohesive, versatile and professional team and nurturing a working environment that recognises and
rewards results

»  Civil Service - Being a model department that performs effectively and efficiently
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* Integrity - Neutrality, impartiality, transparency, accountability, openness

» Professionalism - Expertise, discipline, credibility, ethics, commitment

* Respect for the Community, Clients and Staff - Freedom of expression, responsiveness, understanding, efficiency,
effectiveness

» Foresight - A proactive attitude, anticipation, awareness
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MrY K Ha commenced pre-retirement leave on 6 May 2013, and Mr Danny Lau assumed the post of Deputy Director-General (Telecommunications) on the same
day.
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Mr Chaucer Leung assumed the post of Assistant Director (Regulatory) on 2 July 2013.
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It gives me great pleasure to present the first annual report
of the Office of the Communications Authority (OFCA). The
publication of this report is a testament to OFCA's successful
first year as the executive arm of the Communications
Authority (CA), the new unified regulator for the
broadcasting and telecommunications sectors, which was
established on 1 April 2012, the same date that OFCA itself
came into operation. Created by merging the former Office
of the Telecommunications Authority (OFTA) and relevant
divisions of the Television and Entertainment Licensing
Authority (TELA), OFCA is a government department that
operates on a trading fund basis. Our mission is to support
and assist the CA to perform its regulatory functions and
meet the challenges that arise from today’s information age
and era of convergence, ensuring that Hong Kong maintains
its leading position as the communications hub of the Asia-
Pacific region.

Before reviewing our work in this inaugural year, | would
like to take a moment to guide you through the overall
development of the communications market in the past

year.

A Vibrant Communications Market

Hong Kong enjoys a vibrant and versatile communications
market. | am pleased to report that in the past year the
market has remained prosperous and continued to develop
in a number of key sectors.

Broadcasting Sector

On the broadcasting front, 2012 saw the official launch of
digital audio broadcasting (DAB) services by three licensees,
heralding a new era for broadcasting services in Hong Kong.
In addition to the programmes broadcast on the seven
FM and six AM channels, members of the public can now
choose from a wide variety of programmes, all of which are
available with superb sound quality via the 16 DAB channels
being provided by the DAB licensees and Radio Television
Hong Kong (RTHK). For television services, too, 2012 saw

continuous new developments. Hong Kong's two domestic

free television programme service licensees continued to roll
out their Digital Terrestrial Television (DTT) networks. By the
end of 2012, DTT coverage has been extended to around
98% of the population. OFCA has assisted the CA to
review and revise the Generic Code of Practice on Television
Technical Standards to enable these two free domestic
television programme service licensees to switch their coding
standard from MPEG-2 to H.264 for the digital simulcast
channels, thus further enhancing their picture quality and
creating the potential to provide even more programme
choices and enhanced services in the future.

OFCA likewise assists the CA in processing broadcast
complaints and taking the necessary follow-up actions
in accordance with established procedures. During the
year under review, the CA processed more than 49 000
complaints (1 625 cases involved) about broadcast materials,
the largest number of complaints we have ever processed.
Around 3 400 (1 584 cases involved) of these were handled
directly by OFCA, using powers delegated by the CA to
deal with complaints which are related to breaches of a
minor nature, or those that do not involve any breach of
legislation, licence conditions or codes of practice, or which
otherwise fall outside the CA's remit.

Telecommunications Sector

On the telecommunications front, mobile data services
continue to be the principal engine of market growth.
The provision of 4G LTE (Long Term Evolution) services
has greatly enhanced the user experience and enabled a
variety of innovative and high-speed mobile data services
for selection by consumers. Let me share with you some
key figures to help you understand the scale of this dynamic
and fast-growing market. There are now more than 11
million 3G and 4G subscribers in Hong Kong. The volume
of monthly data usage by July 2013 was 10 629 terabytes,
which was 1.7 times the amount recorded over the same
period in 2012. In the general mobile market, Hong Kong
has a total of 16.8 million mobile subscribers. This represents
a penetration rate of 233%, which puts us in the leading

position globally. With mobile network operators dedicating

Chapter 1 Message From the Director-General
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significant resources to the roll out of their 4G networks,
we can expect to see the local mobile data service market
continues to prosper.

Following the successful auction of 90 MHz of radio
spectrum in the 2.5/2.6 GHz band in January 2009 and
another 90 MHz of radio spectrum in the 2.3 GHz band in
February 2012, OFCA auctioned off an additional 50 MHz
of radio spectrum in the 2.5/2.6 GHz band in March 2013
for the further development of 4G data services in Hong
Kong. The auction fetched for the benefit of the general
community a total of HK$1.54 billion in Spectrum Utilisation
Fees (SUF), with the spectrum going to four incumbent

mobile network operators.

In the fixed broadband service market, | am similarly proud
to report that consumers in Hong Kong can now enjoy
broadband services of up to 1 Gbps, thanks to technology
advancements and the continuous roll out of new optical
fibre networks by various operators. As at July 2013, Hong
Kong had around 2.24 million residential and commercial
fixed broadband service subscribers, with a household
penetration rate of 84%. | am especially pleased to report
that according to the “State of the Internet 1st Quarter,
2013 Report” published by Internet content delivery
provider Akamai in July 2013, Hong Kong has the fastest
broadband in the world, with an average peak connection
speed of 63.6 Mbps. This further underscores our status as
a global leader in communications technology.

In addition to this thriving broadband market, Hong Kong
has also established itself as an attractive location for
operators in the Asia-Pacific Region to land their submarine
cable systems. To support this important market, OFCA
continues to provide a single-point-of-contact service to help
operators meet all the necessary statutory requirements. To
date, OFCA's coordination has successfully helped two cable
systems to land in Hong Kong, namely Asia Submarine-
Cable Express (ASE) and Southeast Asia Japan Cable (SJC).
Another new system is expected to land in 2014. These
new submarine cable systems will further strengthen Hong

Kong’s position as a regional telecommunications hub.

Enhancing Consumer Protection

It brings me great satisfaction to see that the people
of Hong Kong enjoy an extensive range of world-class
communications services at very competitive prices. To
build on this success, one of OFCA's key responsibilities is to
enhance consumer protection, thus ensuring that consumers
also enjoy the high quality service. This has been achieved
through the introduction of various mandatory and self-
regulatory measures dating back to 2010, when mobile data
services first began to flourish.

Through the coordination of the former OFTA, all mobile
network operators implemented preventive measures
against “mobile bill shock”. These measures help
consumers avoid exorbitantly high mobile service charges,
which are usually caused by unintentional or inadvertent
usage of local and roaming data services. Following a series
of publicity programmes to educate the public on how to
properly use mobile data services, we are glad to report
that there has been a continuous decline in the number of
“mobile bill shock” consumer complaints in the past two

years.

In 2012 the CA also issued a set of mandatory guidelines
for the implementation by service providers of Fair Usage
Policy (FUP). These guidelines, which took effect in
February 2012 for all fixed and mobile broadband service
providers to follow on a mandatory basis, ensure that FUP is

implemented by service providers in a transparent manner

Chapter 1 Message From the Director-General
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so that customers can enjoy fair use of network resources

and reasonable access to their providers’ services.

OFCA has also been encouraging the industry to adopt
self-requlatory measures to further protect consumers. A
notable achievement in this respect was the promulgation
of the Code of Practice for Telecommunications Service
Contracts (Industry Code) by the Communications
Association of Hong Kong (CAHK) in 2011. Through close
collaboration between the CAHK and OFCA, the Industry
Code sets out clear guiding principles for operators to
draw up their service contracts, and affords consumers
better protection when they enter into new contracts or
renew existing contracts with their service providers. We
are now liaising with the CAHK for inclusion of additional
measures in the Industry Code to further enhance consumer
protection.

Other self-regulatory measures, namely the publication
of a voluntary Code for the Provision of Chargeable
Mobile Content Services (MCS) in 2010 and a code of
practice in 2011 for the billing and payment collection
of telecommunications services, have likewise addressed
other consumer concerns. For the code on MCS, an
Administrative Agency was also established under the
CAHK to govern the practices of third-party Content Service
Providers in their provision of MCS. | am very pleased
to report that this self-regulatory scheme has effectively

reduced the number of consumer complaints.

From time to time, OFCA receives complaints about billing
disputes between telecommunications service providers
and their residential/personal customers and some of them
are left unresolved after a period of time and remain in
deadlock. To provide a channel for the resolution of these
disputes through mediation, OFCA has collaborated with
the industry to launch a voluntary Customer Complaint
Settlement Scheme (CCSS) for a two-year trial period since
November 2012. CCSS is operated by the CAHK and
sponsored by OFCA through the contribution of necessary
funding and the provision of administrative support. OFCA
will closely monitor the operation of the scheme and

consider the best way forward when the trial period is

completed.

The Trade Descriptions (Unfair Trade Practices) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2012 came into effect on 19 July 2013. It has
extended the coverage of the Trade Descriptions Ordinance
(Cap. 362) (TDO) from goods to services and it prohibits
specified unfair trade practices of traders. The CA has been
conferred concurrent jurisdiction with the Customs and
Excise Department (C&ED) for enforcing the fair trading
sections of the TDO in relation to the commercial practices
of licensees that are directly connected with the provision
of a telecommunications service or broadcasting service
under the Telecommunications Ordinance (Cap. 106) (TO)
and the Broadcasting Ordinance (Cap. 562) (BO). The
two enforcement agencies have jointly issued a set of
enforcement guidelines, and various publicity activities
have been launched to help both traders and consumers
understand the new statutory requirements and better
prepare themselves for compliance with the law.

Conducting Consultations and Reviews
to Ensure an Up-to-date Regulatory
Regime

Broadcasting Sector

The CA conducts regular reviews of codes of practice to
ensure that proper guidance is given to licensees, and also
to ensure that the standards keep track with community
expectations and the ongoing development of the
broadcasting industry. During the last year, in addition to
revising the technical code on DTT, OFCA also assisted the
CA in revising the codes of practice for television regarding
the placement of commercial references within programmes
that have been acquired for direct re-transmission on
domestic free television programme services, as well as the
provision of clear identifications in television advertisements
presented in a programme style. The codes of practice for
television and radio have also been revised to make clear
the applicability of advertising time limits to promos for
television and radio advertisements.

Chapter 1 Message From the Director-General
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In the context of the 2010 mid-term review of the licences
of the two domestic free television programme service
licensees, viz Asia Television Limited (ATV) and the Television
Broadcasts Limited (TVB), the CA decided to conduct public
engagement exercises to regularly collect public views on
both the quality and variety of programmes provided by the
licensees. The first engagement exercise took place in late
2010/early 2011, and the second was conducted earlier this
year. OFCA assisted the CA in compiling a report on the
views received, as well as licensees’ responses and follow-up
actions. The report was published in August 2013.

We also assisted the CA in processing the licence renewal
application of TVB Network Vision Limited (formerly known
as TVB Pay Vision Limited) for its domestic pay television
programme service licence, and the applications from Health
TV Company Limited and One TV Media Global Limited for
non-domestic television programme service licences. During
the year, we also assisted the CA in handling one application
for renewal of an other licensable television programme

service licence.

Telecommunications Sector

In the telecommunications sector, although all incumbent
mobile network operators have now launched 4G services,
the 3G spectrum still plays an important role in the provision
of mobile data services. In light of the fact that all current
3G licences will expire in October 2016, we assisted the
Secretary for Commerce and Economic Development and
the CA in conducting two rounds of public consultation in
March and December 2012 respectively, with the aim of
collecting views from the industry and other stakeholders
regarding re-assignment arrangements of the 3G spectrum
and related issues. After the first consultation, a hybrid
option, which offers incumbent 3G operators the right
of first refusal for two-thirds of the 3G spectrum and re-
auctioning the remaining one-third, was proposed for
further consultation in the second consultation. While the
SUF of the re-auctioned spectrum would be determined by
the auction outcome, two market-based methods have been

proposed in the second consultation for setting the SUF of

the right-of-first-refusal spectrum. A total of 43 submissions
were received in response to the second consultation paper.
In addition, on behalf of the Government, we commissioned
an independent consultant to conduct a study in relation
to the impacts on both service quality and customers of
adopting the proposed hybrid option when re-assigning the
3G spectrum.

In April 2013, we have also assisted the CA to complete a
review and to take the decision to withdraw the regulatory
guidance on the charging principles of narrowband
interconnection between fixed carriers subject to a
transitional period of 18 months. After the withdrawal of
such regulatory guidance, all types of carrier-to-carrier local
interconnection charges, namely fixed-fixed narrowband
and broadband interconnection charges, mobile-mobile
interconnection charges and fixed-mobile interconnection
charges, are not subject to any regulatory guidance and
are solely determined through commercial negotiations

between the telecommunications operators.

In response to public demands, and following a public
consultation, the licence fees for the Unified Carrier
Licences (UCLs) and Public Radiocommunications Service
(PRS) Licences (Paging) and Services-based Operator (SBO)
Licences (Class 3) have been reduced. Both the customer
connection fee of UCLs for each 100 customer connections
and the mobile station fee of PRS/SBO Licences for each
100 mobile stations have been reduced from HK$800 to
HK$700 with effect from 1 March 2013.

Major Challenges Ahead

Our communications service market is highly competitive.
To maintain this success — particularly in view of
increasing public aspirations, the prevalence of innovative
communications services, and the continuous emergence
of advanced new technologies — OFCA will remain vigilant
to all these developments. We will continue to implement
timely measures that ensure Hong Kong's regulatory regime
is up-to-date.

Chapter 1 Message From the Director-General
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In the coming year, OFCA will continue to assist the CA
in the renewal of various broadcasting licences, including
those of ATV, TVB and PCCW Media Limited. An extensive
public consultation exercise, including public hearings and
broadcasting service surveys, will be conducted to collect the

public’s views on the performances of these licensees.

OFCA will also assist the CA in reviewing the relevant
provisions of the television and radio codes of practice in
response to public concerns about licensees expressing one-
sided views or safeguarding their own interests in broadcasts

identified as “personal view programmes”.

Assisting the CA in the decision making on the re-
assignment arrangements of the 3G spectrum will be
another challenging milestone for OFCA in the coming year.
The CA and the Government are studying the views and
comments received in the submissions in response to the
second consultation paper. The aim is to announce the way
forward on the 3G spectrum re-assignment arrangements
by October 2013, so that the incumbent 3G operators will
have three years to prepare for possible changes to their 3G

spectrum assignment.

On the fair trading sections of the TDO, OFCA will continue
to work closely with the C&ED on the law enforcement
aspects and to collaborate with the Consumer Council
in conducting publicity and education programmes that
equip both members of the public and traders with an

understanding of the law.

Hong Kong's cross-sector competition law, the Competition
Ordinance (Cap. 619) (CO), was enacted in June 2012.
The Competition Commission has since been established
to enforce the CO, and concurrent jurisdiction has been
conferred on the CA to enforce the CO in respect of the
conduct of telecommunications and broadcasting licensees.
In the coming months, OFCA wiill assist the CA and work
closely with the Competition Commission regarding
the preparatory work required for the implementation
of the CO, including drafting the relevant guidelines on
enforcement, as well as a memorandum of understanding
to coordinate the performance of the functions of the

Competition Commission and the CA under the CO.

Closing Remarks

I would like to thank all my colleagues for their hard work in
the past year, which has made it possible for us to transition
so smoothly from the former OFTA to OFCA. | offer you my
assurance that OFCA remains committed to fully supporting
the CA in the performance of its regulatory functions. With
the expertise and professionalism of OFCA's team, | am
confident that we will successfully face whatever regulatory
challenges that may come our way in the future, always
working tirelessly and diligently to maintain Hong Kong’s
leading position as a centre of global communications

excellence.

Chapter 1 Message From the Director-General
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The Communications Authority and its
Committees

Technological advancement and media convergence
in recent years have increasingly blurred the traditional
boundaries between telecommunications and broadcasting
services. Against this background, the CA, an independent
statutory body which oversees both the broadcasting and
telecommunications sectors, was established on 1 April
2012 with the aim of meeting the regulatory challenges
arising from the new era of convergence. Under the
Communications Authority Ordinance (Cap. 616) (CAO),
the CA is charged with the functions previously performed
by its predecessors, the former Broadcasting Authority (BA)
and Telecommunications Authority (TA), in regulating the
broadcasting and telecommunications sectors. It is also
conferred with those responsibilities under the CAO, the
BO, the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Cap. 391) (B(MP)O), the TO and the Unsolicited Electronic
Messages Ordinance (Cap. 593) (UEMO).

The CA comprises ten non-official members, including the
chairman, and two official members. It is the vision of the
CA that Hong Kong acquires the world-class communications
services necessary to meet the challenges of the information
age. The CA is committed to fulfilling its mission to, inter
alia, enhance Hong Kong's position as a communications
hub for the region, encourage innovation and investment in
the communications market, and promote competition and
adoption of best practices. It is also committed to acting in
a manner consistent with the provisions of the Hong Kong
Bill of Rights Ordinance (Cap. 383).

In view of its wide spectrum of statutory functions and
responsibilities, the CA is empowered under the CAO
to appoint any committees for advice or assistance in
performing any functions. Hitherto, the CA has set up
three committees — the Broadcast Complaints Committee
(BCC), the Broadcast Codes of Practice Committee and
the Telecommunications Affairs Committee — to advise it
on the full range of broadcasting and telecommunications

issues.

The Office of the Communications
Authority

The CA is underpinned by a Government department,
OFCA, which came into operation on the same date of
the establishment of the CA, thatis, 1 April 2012. As the
executive arm of the CA, OFCA was formed by merging the
then OFTA with relevant divisions of the TELA. To maintain
a high level of operational flexibility and to respond swiftly
to the needs of the fast-moving communications industry,
OFCA operates on a trading fund basis, with the previous
OFTA Trading Fund being carried forward and renamed the
OFCA Trading Fund.

OFCA is headed by a civil servant, the Director-General of

Communications, with a total workforce of 395 (as at 31

March 2013). Together, they share the same core values

of integrity, professionalism, respect and foresight. The

mode of operation of the CA and its executive arm is largely
modelled on the organisation of the BA and Broadcasting

Division of TELA. In order to provide full support to the CA

in fulfilling its vision, OFCA is committed to:

(@) The Public: Fulfilling the needs and expectations

of the community;

(b)  The Industry:  Providing a fair regulatory environment
conducive to innovation and business
investment;

() The Economy: Maintaining Hong Kong’s position as
a preeminent communications centre
in the region to support economic
development;

(d)  Our Staff: Maintaining a cohesive, versatile

and professional team and nurturing

a working environment that recognises

and rewards results; and

(e)  The Civil Service: Being a model department that

performs effectively and efficiently.

Chapter 2 The CA and OFCA Established to Better Meet the Challenges of the Convergence Era
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The Development of Digital Terrestrial
Television Services

Extending the DTT Coverage

Since the launch of DTT services in late 2007, the two
domestic free television programme service licensees, namely
ATV and TVB, have constructed in phases a total of 29
transmitting stations, bringing the overall DTT coverage to
around 98% of the population by the end of 2012. More
people can now enjoy better quality pictures and enhanced
audio-visual features, including high-definition television
(HDTV) and surround sound, with more programming
choices available from additional television channels® and
value-added services (such as closed captioning, electronic

programme guide, interactive services, among others).

The CA decided in June 2012 to grant approval to the
applications from ATV and TVB for exemption from territory-
wide coverage of DTT services up to 31 December 2013
subject to the conditions, among others, that their DTT
services should be extended to cover at least 98% of the
population by end 2012, and then at least 99% of the
population, that is, with penetration on a par with that of
analogue television, by September 2013.

Change of Coding Standard for Digital
Television Programme Channels

In response to a joint application by ATV and TVB, we
assisted the CA in reviewing and revising the Generic Code
of Practice on Television Technical Standards to allow for
a change in the coding standard for four digital simulcast
television programme channels from MPEG-2 to H.264. The
use of H.264 coding enhances picture quality and opens
up the possibility of providing more programme channels
and introducing enhanced services such as HDTV and three-
dimensional television. The CA approved the change to the
coding standard, and this took effect in October 2012.

w
b

Roll-out of Digital Audio Broadcasting
Services

The three DAB licensees, namely Digital Broadcasting
Corporation Hong Kong Limited (DBC), Metro Broadcast
Corporation Limited (Metro) and Phoenix U Radio Limited
(Phoenix U Radio), formally launched DAB services in 2012
in accordance with the licence requirements. As of the end
of September 2013, the licensees and RTHK provided a total
of 16 DAB channels (7 by DBC, 2 by Metro, 2 by Phoenix U
Radio and 5 by RTHK). The number of DAB channels will

gradually increase to 18.

The DAB transmission network, comprising seven principal
transmitting stations located at Beacon Hill, Castle Peak,
Cloudy Hill, Golden Hill, Kowloon Peak, Lamma Island and

Mount Gough, was officially launched in June 2012.

Between October 2012 and January 2013, DBC suspended
its DAB service arising from a dispute among shareholders.
We assisted the CA in taking regulatory action against DBC
and imposed on it financial penalties totalling $280,000 for
breaches of licence conditions. Following the settlement
of the dispute, DBC resumed its full-fledged broadcasting

service on 28 January 2013.

3 ATV and TVB are currently broadcasting 11 DTT programme channels,
including both HDTV and standard definition television channels.

Chapter 3 Sustaining the Development of the Broadcasting Industry
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Handling of Broadcast Complaints

The CA does not pre-censor broadcast content, but adopts
a complaint-driven approach to ensure that broadcast
content is in compliance with the legislation, the licence
conditions and the codes of practice issued by the CA. As
the executive arm of the CA, we assist the CA in handling
complaints about broadcast materials in accordance with the
provisions stipulated in the B(MP)O and the CA broadcast
complaint handling procedures.

In 2012/13, we dealt with 1 625 cases (49 184 complaints)4.
Among them, 41 cases (45 752 complaints) were referred to
the BCC of the CA and then to the CA for consideration and
determination. Details of the complaint cases considered
by the CA have been published on the CA website. The
Director-General of Communications handled the remaining
1 584 cases (3 432 complaints) under the power delegated
by the CA. These complaints were related to breaches of
a minor nature, or allegations which did not constitute any
breach or were outside the remit of section 11(1) of the
B(MP)O, that is, the substance of the complaints did not
involve a contravention of the legislation, licence conditions

or codes of practice.

Licence Administration

Based on the then BA's recommendation on the application
for the renewal of the domestic pay television programme
service licence of TVB Network Vision, the Chief Executive in
Council approved the licence renewal application in August
2012. The validity period of the renewed licence is 12 years,
from 23 February 2013 to 22 February 2025.

We also processed two applications for non-domestic
television programme service licences from Health TV
Company Limited and One TV Media Global Limited, and
one application for the renewal of other licensable television
programme service licence from Showers of Blessing
Evangelistic Ministry (Hong Kong) Limited for the provision
of television programme services in hotel rooms in Hong
Kong.

Review of Codes of Practice

We assist the CA in conducting regular reviews of the
codes of practice to provide guidance to broadcasters
on programme, advertising and technical standards.
During the year under review, in addition to the change
to the Generic Code of Practice on Television Technical
Standards mentioned above, the CA also amended the
codes of practice for television and radio in order to relax
the requirement governing commercial references within
programmes for channels acquired for direct re-transmission
on domestic free television programme services; to require
clear identification of television advertisements presented
in a programme style; and to make clear the applicability of
the advertising time-limit to promos for television and radio

advertisements.

Public Engagement Exercise on
Domestic Free Television Programme
Services

In the context of the mid-term review of the domestic free
television programme service licences in 2010, the Chief
Executive in Council approved, among other things, the
recommendations by the then BA to engage the public, on a
regular basis, to collect their views on the quality and variety
of the television programmes provided by the licensees.
The first public engagement exercise was conducted in late
2010/early 2011. We assisted the CA in conducting the
2013 public engagement exercise between February and
May 2013. The exercise adopted a two-stage format: an
invitation for submission of written views from members
of the public at stage one, and the conduct of focus group
meetings at stage two. In August 2013, the CA published
a report on the views collected during the two stages and
the licensees' responses and follow-up actions to the views
collected.

4 To ensure operational efficiency, complaints with similar or related
allegations against the same broadcast material are handled together and
counted as a single case.

Chapter 3 Sustaining the Development of the Broadcasting Industry
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Promoting the Development of Mobile
Data Services to Meet Consumer
Demand

Consultation on Re-assignment of the 3G
Spectrum

There are currently over 11 million 3G/4G mobile data
service customers. Despite the launch of 4G services by all
mobile network operators in August 2012, the 3G spectrum
retains its importance as the backbone in supporting the
provision of mobile data services. The 2 x 60 MHz 3G
spectrum in the 1.9 to 2.2 GHz band was assigned through
auction to four mobile network operators, each with 2 x 15
MHz, in October 2001. The assignment was for a tenure of

15 years which will expire on 21 October 2016.

According to the Radio Spectrum Policy Framework
promulgated by the Government in April 2007, there is no
legitimate expectation on the part of the operators that
any right of renewal or right of first refusal of any licence
or frequency assignment will be offered upon its expiry.
Furthermore, according to the statement issued by the then
TA in January 2008, insofar as it is practicable under the
circumstances, a notice period of not less than three years
would be given for variation or withdrawal of spectrum
assignment to carrier licences, that is, in this case by October
2013 at the latest.

In order to solicit views from the industry and other
interested parties on the arrangements for the frequency
spectrum in the 1.9 to 2.2 GHz band upon the expiry of
the existing frequency assignments for 3G mobile services
and related issues, two rounds of public consultation
were conducted. In the first consultation paper issued in
March 2012, three options for spectrum re-assignment
were proposed. Having taken into account the views and
comments collected from that consultation, a hybrid option,
which includes the offer of right of first refusal for two-thirds
of the 3G spectrum to the incumbent 3G operators and re-
auctioning of the remaining one-third of the 3G spectrum,

was put forward for further consultation in the second

consultation paper issued in December 2012. In deciding
on the way forward, the CA aims to achieve multiple
spectrum management objectives, including ensuring
service continuity of existing customers, enhancing the
efficiency of spectrum utilisation, encouraging investment
and the introduction of innovative services, and ultimately
stimulating further competition in the mobile market to the
benefit of consumers.

The views and comments received in response to the second
consultation paper will be carefully considered. Insofar
as it is practicable, the decision on the re-assignment
arrangements will be announced by October 2013, thereby
giving three years’ advance notice to the incumbent 3G
operators on any possible variation to their frequency

assignments.

2.5/2.6 GHz Band Spectrum Auction for the
Development of 4G Service

In March 2013, OFCA auctioned off 50 MHz of radio
spectrum in the 2.5/2.6 GHz band®. Four existing mobile
network operators successfully bid for the radio spectrum
for a total SUF of HK$1.54 billion. The assignment of the 50
MHz of radio spectrum will enable the successful bidders to
deploy state-of-the-art mobile broadband technologies and
provide the necessary network capacities to further develop
4G services in Hong Kong. The assignment is for a validity
period of 15 years, to expire in May 2028.

Strengthening Consumer Protection
in the Use of Telecommunications
Services

Ongoing Implementation of “Mobile Bill
Shock” Preventive Measures

With the increasing popularity of smart phones and
advanced mobile devices in recent years, the demand for

5 For the development of 4G data services in Hong Kong, OFCA auctioned
off 90 MHz of radio spectrum in the 2.5/2.6 GHz band in January 2009,
and another 90 MHz in the 2.3 GHz band in February 2012.
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mobile data services has increased considerably. At the
same time, the number of consumer complaints relating
to mobile broadband billing disputes has also been on the
rise since the end of 2009, and continued through to 2010.
These complaints are commonly referred to as “mobile bill
shock”, which refers to the shock consumers experience
upon receiving unexpectedly high mobile bill charges.
“Mobile bill shock” was mainly caused by unintentional or
inadvertent usage of mobile data services, locally or while

using roaming services overseas.

To address the rising number of complaints related to
“mobile bill shock”, OFCA promulgated in May 2010 a
series of preventive measures for the industry to adopt.
These measures include allowing customers to opt out
of individual services; setting a charge ceiling; setting a
usage cap for all kinds of usage-based mobile services; and
alerting customers through short messages when their
predetermined usage threshold is reached, or whenever

their roaming data usage is triggered.

With a view to increasing the transparency of the relevant
service information, we have published the measures
implemented by individual operators on our website
and have been providing updates on a regular basis. In
parallel with these measures, we have organised a series of
publicity programmes to enhance consumer awareness and
knowledge of mobile data services. A data usage calculator
has also been posted on our website, which serves as a tool

for consumers to estimate their data usage.

Following the implementation of these measures by mobile
network operators and our consumer education efforts, the
number of related complaints decreased from 526 cases in
2011 to 475 cases in 2012.

The Fair Usage Policy Guidelines

Mobile and fixed broadband service providers offer a variety
of service plans for consumers, including “unlimited”
usage plans. However, these “unlimited” usage plans are
often subject to limitations, in the name of FUP, imposed
by service providers. For example, service providers may

impose restrictions by lowering the network service priority

or reducing access speed for customers whose data usage
has exceeded a specified threshold. Service providers apply
the FUP mainly to ensure their customers as a whole have
a reasonable opportunity to enjoy and access their services
and to prevent possible abuses by a small number of
customers. Nevertheless, consumers may not be aware of
the existence of the FUP or understand the respective terms
and conditions. Customers of unlimited service plans in
particular feel aggrieved when their data usage was subject
to restriction because of FUP.

To better protect consumer interests and enhance the
transparency of service information, the CA issued a set
of mandatory guidelines entitled “Guidelines for the
Implementation of Fair Usage Policy for the Provision
of Mobile and Fixed Broadband Services” governing
how service providers should implement their FUP. The
mandatory guidelines have been in effect since February
2012.

Since the implementation of the guidelines, the number
of related complaints decreased from 78 cases in 2011 to
46 cases in 2012, indicating that the guidelines have been
effective in addressing consumer concerns.

Enhancement of the Broadband
Performance Test System

Since December 2010 OFCA has posted on its website a
broadband performance test system to enable broadband
service users to measure the performance of their
broadband connections, including download and upload
speeds, network latency, packet loss and jitter. Apart from

Chapter 4 Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market

24



BAEHEERNAE

2012 13 EERSHRES

25

ZRARFAARKEE "2013FBEMMBAR
82, /T TREARRBER (BL RBEAEX)
®, BEEFE - BELRBLURE201349H - RREE
1THBIA3 800B A, -

7. HoNfRmEON S IAWARDS
[TFEST ' g
-3

NG R

—

BN EERIVIFH R RLE T2013BBEMLBAR L ¢
REAKRBEER (WL mEEpEl) 8, BRES -
The OFCA Broadband Performance Test was accredited with the
Certificate of Merit in the “Hong Kong ICT Awards 2013: Best
Public Service Application (Web/Mobile Application) Award"”.

BEEERAERBITRERE
BN RFE & #IE R E T

RAZEFURHERTBNRE S NAES|  FELURTH S
FERNERENERPREE  BEEMEREN2010
FI2RAMBETREMEN (BNRBENEREET
A1) - B2011ETREE A EENEEMRB R ER
AR —REENHIBNRBENEEERATE - LU
BAE (ERTRD - EBAMRBHEAREERFERE]
HER]RBANRESEERE - #1T (EATR) =R
EHEEERN—IRERRE - (XRTR) TRRHEE
AMEFEWEE RGN EENEEERFLATE

FOE DiEREHHEHIHHER

BERBANFIBNRFEFH201TENT 27TTREDE
2012491 1165R » AE (EATR) - EEER
HEERE  BAEBDNE (RATRI) BRemELIR
FTEIRHEE BiER - BREERFRE 2R - BIER
20135 AT IE REBIEDT B EMERS - FHES8
BEEZABEE S

NE B BARTE TR

RRFEOHE BB INEBRBDARRBERELNE
B BRERAREAE ST B EELEN
(BBRBANBRRBTAY - ZTRBEEEBENRBSN
20101 BAMMEN - RES =75 ARRBHEREATR
HRRBARIRT - WRIIERBITHEEE - TRIER
FrAEE= I ARTHERREFRIABATRIER © AR
I ERERMZRBEBNRBWERSE © REMBKEBME
B BRIEFPERRAESRERYE - LBERINES
T EAORELERT AR TS H e




OFFICE OF THE COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY

TRADING FUND REPORT 2012/13

users of desktop and notebook computers, users of smart
phones and tablets working on Apple’s iOS and Google’s
Android operating systems may also make use of the test

system.

In December 2012, we completed the upgrade of the
broadband performance test which now offers desktop
users an optional speed test of up to 300 Mbps. In January
2013, we also updated the mobile apps to offer more
accurate measurement for Android- and i0S-based mobile
devices.

The broadband performance test system was accredited
with a Certificate of Merit under the category of “Best
Public Service Application (Web/Mobile Application) Award”
in the "Hong Kong ICT Awards 2013”. From service
launch to September 2013, more than 38 million tests were

performed over this system.

Continuing to Facilitate the
Implementation of Self-regulatory
Measures

Industry Code of Practice for
Telecommunications Service Contracts

In December 2010, in order to provide guidelines for the
industry on drawing up communications service contracts so
as to improve transparency in the contracting process and
increase customer satisfaction, CAHK promulgated the self-
regulatory Industry Code of Practice for Telecommunications
Service Contracts. Since July 2011, all major fixed and
mobile network operators and one major external
telecommunications services operator have implemented the
necessary measures for complying with the Industry Code to
provide personal and residential users of telecommunications
services with better protection upon signing or renewal
of service contracts. The implementation of the Industry
Code is a major initiative in protecting consumer rights and
interests. The Industry Code also represents the proactive
efforts of the telecommunications industry to address
consumer complaints and disputes in relation to contractual

matters.

The number of complaints related to service contract
disputes decreased from 1 277 cases in 2011 to 1 116 cases
in 2012. With a view to enhancing the Industry Code for
better consumer protection, we have taken the initiative to
analyse the consumer complaints that we received since the
implementation of the Industry Code in the past two years
and identified several improvement areas. We sent our
findings to CAHK in May 2013 which will discuss with their
members our suggested improvement areas.

Code for the Provision of Chargeable
Mobile Content Services

To safeguard consumer interests and increase the
transparency of the pricing information related to MCS,
OFCA has been working closely with the industry to draw up
the voluntary “Code for the Provision of Chargeable Mobile
Content Services”. The code governs the practices of third-
party Content Service Providers (CSPs) in providing MCS and
the establishment of an industry self-regulatory scheme.
This was promulgated and put into effect by the CAHK in
January 2010. The code requires all third-party CSPs, before
initiating delivery of MCS to customers, to indicate to them
clearly the chargeable nature of the services, provide them
with clear information on all charges, obtain clear consent
from them for the provision of MCS, and also set out clearly
the unsubscribing mechanisms which should be simple and
convenient.

The code also provides for the establishment of an
Administrative Agency (AA), which is responsible for
assessing the capability of CSPs and securing their pledges
in complying with the requirements of the code, and
monitoring their compliance through random checks and
complaint handling on a regular basis. A mobile network
operator may only enter into a commercial contract with a
CSP which has obtained a Letter of Positive Assessment (LPA)
from the AA, on the delivery and billing services in respect
of MCS. As at end March 2013, 11 CSPs had successfully
obtained LPAs from the AA.

OFCA has been closely monitoring the effectiveness of the
code. Since the adoption of the code in January 2010,
the number of related complaints received by OFCA has

Chapter 4 Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market
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decreased and remained low at a monthly average of less
than five cases during the year under review, reflecting that
the voluntary code has been working positively to address
consumer concerns.

Code of Practice in Relation to Billing
Information and Payment Collection for
Telecommunications Services

In October 2011, OFCA issued a code of practice entitled
“Code of Practice in Relation to Billing and Payment
Collection for Telecommunications Services” to provide
guidance to telecommunications operators on the
chargeable items to be included in their bills and the
arrangements for payment collection, for compliance by
operators on a voluntary basis.

Effective from 1 July 2012, seven local fixed and five mobile
network operators have pledged compliance with the code
of practice. For the information of consumers, we have
published on our website a consumer alert as well as a
summary of the compliance status of the operators. We
will continue to closely monitor the implementation and

effectiveness of this code of practice.

Industry Code of Practice for Provision of
Mobile TV Services

According to the relevant regulatory framework for the
development of broadcast-type mobile television (mobile TV)
services, the content of mobile TV, either local broadcast-
type or streaming-type, should be subject to regulation by
general laws but not by the BO. To enable self-regulation,
the industry issued a code of practice for provision of mobile
TV services in August 2012. The code of practice includes
the requirements of access control with a view to protecting
public morals and children.

Launch of the Customer Complaint
Settlement Scheme

To help resolve, by means of mediation, billing disputes in

deadlock between telecommunications service providers and

their residential/personal customers, OFCA has facilitated
the setting up of the voluntary CCSS for a trial period of two
years as from 1 November 2012 by the telecommunications
industry. The mediation service is provided by an
independent mediation service centre set up under CAHK
with the participation of all major telecommunications
service providers in Hong Kong. OFCA sponsors the CCSS
operation. We also play an active role in monitoring the

performance and the governance of the scheme.

During the period of 1 November 2012 to 31 March 2013,
OFCA received 236 application enquiries. Among them, 36
applications were within the scope of the CCSS, of which
27 were satisfactorily settled before referral to the CCSS
mediation service centre, and the remaining nine cases
were satisfactorily settled after following up by the CCSS
mediation service centre.

Following the trial period, OFCA and the industry will assess
the effectiveness of the CCSS and its usage by the public in
considering the way forward.

Self-Regulatory Scheme for Person-
to-Person Marketing Calls for the
Telecommunications Sector

In June 2011, with the assistance of CAHK, all major fixed
and mobile network operators joined the self-regulatory
scheme and published their codes of practice on person-to-
person marketing calls. CAHK has also assisted in collecting
the complaints statistics from the participating operators in
order for the Government to monitor the progress of the

self-regulatory scheme.

We have issued consumer tips to inform and educate the
members of the public about the self-regulatory scheme
set up by the telecommunications sector so that they may
have access to information on how to make unsubscribe
requests regarding person-to-person marketing calls from
operators as well as on how to lodge complaints. We will
closely monitor the implementation of the scheme in the

telecommunications sector.

Chapter 4 Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market
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Landing of New Submarine Cable
Systems in Hong Kong

As a telecommunications and Internet hub for the Asia-
Pacific region, Hong Kong has continued to attract the
landing of new submarine cables. In 2012, two new
submarine cable systems, namely ASE and SJC, landed in
Hong Kong. ASE, together with its new submarine cable
landing station in Tseung Kwan O, came into operation
in February 2013 and SJC will be ready for service later in
2013.

In addition, another new submarine cable system, the Asia-
Pacific Gateway (APG) is scheduled to land in Hong Kong
in 2014. We are providing a single-point-of-contact service
to assist the operator in applying for the necessary statutory
approvals to land the APG. A new submarine cable landing
station, the eighth such landing station in Hong Kong, is
being built in Tseung Kwan O to accommodate its landing.
With the installation of these new submarine cable systems
and landing stations, Hong Kong’s position as a regional
telecommunications and Internet hub will be further

strengthened.

Steady Growth of Fixed Broadband
Services

Broadband access to various applications and content
services has become an integral part of people’s lives in
Hong Kong. With the ubiquitous availability of broadband
services, whether delivered through cable or wireless
technologies, consumers are able to enjoy broadband access
almost everywhere, at home, in the office or outdoors. As
of July 2013, there were around 2.24 million residential
and commercial fixed broadband subscribers, with a
household penetration rate of 84%. Broadband services
are now available at speeds up to 1 Gbps. According to
the worldwide rankings published by the Fiber-to-the-Home
Council in May 2013, Hong Kong, with 44% of households
connected to Fiber-to-the-Home (FTTH) or Fiber-to-the-
Building (FTTB) networks, ranks number five worldwide
among the 35 economies with at least 1% of households

served by FTTH or FTTB service providers.

Review of Regulatory Guidance on the
Charging Principles for Narrowband
Interconnection between Fixed Carriers

Charges for narrowband interconnection between
fixed carriers are the only type of carrier-to-carrier
local interconnection charge still subject to regulatory
guidance. Fixed—fixed broadband interconnection charges,
mobile—-mobile interconnection charges and fixed—-mobile
interconnection charges are not subject to any regulatory
guidance at present and are solely determined through
commercial negotiations between the telecommunications

operators.

Regulatory guidance on the charging principles for
narrowband interconnection between fixed carriers
was first promulgated in 1995, when the local fixed
telecommunications market was liberalised. Taking into
account the significant changes and developments in
the market and technologies over the past two decades,
regulatory guidance which applies to narrowband
interconnection between fixed carriers is increasingly out
of place when broadband interconnection is not subject to
similar regulatory guidance. The CA decided in April 2013,
after a public consultation, to withdraw the regulatory

guidance subject to an 18-month transitional period.

The regulatory guidance will cease to be effective starting
from 16 October 2014. Fixed carriers are encouraged
to make their best endeavours to conclude commercial
agreements on interconnection. In the meantime, the
CA will ensure that fixed carriers fully observe the any-
to-any connectivity requirement, i.e. any customer in any
network can have access to any other customer in any
interconnecting network, such that services would not be
interrupted in case of failure of commercial negotiations
between fixed carriers.

Chapter 4 Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market
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Withdrawal of Licensing Exemptions
for Personal Handy Phone System (PHS)
Apparatus

PHS is a short and medium-range mobile
radiocommunications technology introduced into Hong Kong
in 1997, mainly for use in cordless telephones operating in
the 1895 — 1906.1 MHz frequency band. The deployment of
PHS in Hong Kong has not been as successful as anticipated.

Having regard to the limited supply of PHS apparatus in the
market, the typical lifespan of a home cordless telephone,
and the scanty radio spectrum utilisation of the 1895 —
1906.1 MHz band, OFCA considered that the allocation
of this particular frequency band for PHS apparatus should
be withdrawn. This will free up valuable and limited radio
spectrum resource for deployment to other services in a
more effective manner. Accordingly, consultation with the
industry and the public on the withdrawal of the licensing
exemption related to PHS apparatus, and thus frequency
allocation in the 1895 — 1906.1 MHz band, was conducted
through the then Radio Spectrum Advisory Committee at its
meetings in March 2011 and a ten-week public consultation
initiated in November 2011. There was general support for
the CA's proposed withdrawal of licence exemption in both
consultation exercises.

To give effect to the withdrawal of PHS licence exemption,
the Telecommunications (Telecommunications Apparatus)
(Exemption from Licensing) (Amendment) Order 2012 was
enacted and commenced operation on 10 May 2013. Under
this Order, starting from 10 May 2013, no person shall carry
PHS apparatus into Hong Kong or sell such apparatus in the
local market. With a three-year grace period, members of
the public who are currently using PHS apparatus will be
allowed to do so continually until 9 May 2016.

Imposition of SUF on Administratively-
assigned Spectrum in Congested Bands

Promulgated by the Government in April 2007, the Radio
Spectrum Policy Framework stipulates that SUF applies in
principle to all non-government use of the radio spectrum.
The objective of imposing SUF on administratively-assigned
spectrum is to facilitate the most economical and socially
efficient use of the radio spectrum in order to maximise the

benefit to the community. Following the completion of the
public consultation on the proposed charging scheme in
February 2011, the Secretary for Commerce and Economic
Development and the then TA issued a joint statement
on the way forward in September 2011. Eight frequency
bands used for fixed links, electronic news gathering/
outside-broadcast links and satellite uplinks are identified as
congested bands and the use of spectrum in these frequency
bands would be subject to SUF payment. To implement
the scheme, the Government is preparing the necessary
amendments to the subsidiary legislation under the TO.

Accreditation of Local Certification
Bodies for Testing and Certification of
Telecommunications Equipment

To keep in pace with international best practices,
commencing 1 October 2009, the testing and certification
services for telecommunications equipment, which were
previously provided by the then OFTA, were transferred to
qualified local testing laboratories. Laboratories accredited
by the CA as local certification bodies (LCBs) can offer
a full range of telecommunications equipment testing
and certification services. In 2012/13, the LCBs issued
432 equipment certificates to meet the needs of the
telecommunications equipment market.

To ensure that all LCBs providing telecommunications
equipment testing and certification services meet the service
quality and performance standards prescribed by OFCA,
we will continue to closely monitor their performance by
conducting documentary checks, plant visits and reviews on
a regular basis. So far, all LCBs have been performing up to
OFCA standards.

Technical Specifications for
Telecommunications Equipment

We are constantly monitoring international developments
in telecommunications standardisation and updating local
technical standards in order to meet the needs of the industry
and the public. In 2012/13, a total of 11 papers were issued
to consult the industry on matters related to standardisation,
and six new or revised technical standards were approved
and issued by the CA.

Chapter 5 Managing the Radio Spectrum and Sustaining Technical Excellence
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OFCA worked closely with the C&ED on the preparatory work for
the implementation of the amended TDO, which came into effect
on 19 July 2013.
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Handling of and Investigations
into Complaints about Misleading
or Deceptive Conduct of
Telecommunications Licensees

During the period of 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013,
OFCA handled 58 complaint cases under section 7M of the
TO, which prohibits misleading or deceptive conduct by
telecommunications licensees. Five of these complaint cases
were confirmed as infringements of the TO and resulted in
financial penalties ranging from HK$50,000 to HK$300,000

being imposed on the licensees.

Handling of and Investigations

into Competition Complaints in the
Telecommunications and Broadcasting
Sectors

During the period of 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013, we
considered five complaint cases under section 7K, 7L or
7N of the TO, which prohibits anti-competitive conduct by
telecommunications licensees. After due consideration, the
cases were closed with no investigations opened. During
the same period, we considered three complaint cases under
section 13 or 14 of the BO, which prohibits anti-competitive
conduct and abuse of dominance by broadcasting licensees.
After due consideration, the cases were closed with no
investigations opened. During the same period, we also
considered four cases under section 7P of the TO, which
regulates merger and acquisition activities involving carrier
licensees, and concluded that no issue was raised that

required commencement of investigation under section 7P.

Preparation for the Implementation of
the Trade Descriptions (Unfair Trade
Practices) (Amendment) Ordinance
2012

Enacted by the Legislative Council on 17 July 2012, the
Trade Descriptions (Unfair Trade Practices) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2012 amended the TDO by extending its

coverage to services, prohibiting specified unfair trade
practices, and providing for an enhanced enforcement
mechanism (collectively known as “fair trading sections”).
The CA is granted concurrent jurisdiction with the C&ED
to enforce the fair trading sections of the TDO in relation
to commercial practices of licensees under the TO and BO
directly connected with the provision of telecommunications
and broadcasting services. The CA has worked closely with
the Commercial and Economic Development Bureau (CEDB)
and C&ED on the preparatory work for the implementation
of the amended TDO, including the consultation on
and issue of enforcement guidelines and the signing
of a memorandum of understanding between the two
enforcement agencies on co-ordinating the performance
of their functions under the amended TDO. The amended
TDO came into operation on 19 July 2013 when section
7M under the TO was repealed subject to transitional

arrangements.

Preparation for the Implementation of
the Competition Ordinance

The CO was passed by the Legislative Council on 14 June
2012. It provides for a cross-sectoral competition law
prohibiting anti-competitive conduct in all sectors which has
the object or effect of preventing, restricting or distorting
competition. Under the CO, the CA is granted concurrent
jurisdiction with the Competition Commission to enforce
the CO in respect of the conduct of telecommunications
and broadcasting licensees, including merger and
acquisition activities involving carrier licensees in the
telecommunications sector. Upon commencement of the
CO, the competition provisions in the BO and TO will be
repealed, subject to transitional arrangements. OFCA will
assist the CA and follow up with CEDB and the Competition
Commission on the preparatory work required before the
commencement of the CO.

Chapter 6 Facilitating Market Competition and Strengthening Consumer Protection
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Enforcement of the Unsolicited
Electronic Messages Ordinance

Do-Not-Call (DNC) Registers

Under the UEMO, we have established three DNC Registers
for facsimile messages, short messages and pre-recorded
telephone messages. Commercial electronic messages
must not be sent to registered numbers, unless the senders
have obtained consent from the registered users. By
September 2013, more than 2.58 million numbers had been
registered with these three DNC Registers. In addition to
the requirements related to the DNC Registers, senders of
commercial electronic messages are also required to comply
with a number of sending rules. For example, they must
provide their contact information and an “unsubscribe

facility” in their commercial electronic messages.

In years 2010/11, 2011/12 and 2012/13, the total number
of reports received in relation to suspected contraventions
of UEMO declined to 3 025, 2 613 and 2 410 respectively.
This represents a decrease in the number of reported cases
by around 40%, 14% and 8%, respectively, on a year-on-
year basis. This downward trend is probably due to a better
understanding of the requirements under the UEMO on the
part of the telemarketing industry, and a growing awareness
among the public of their rights under the UEMO. We will
continue to closely monitor the compliance of the senders
with the rules and streamline the procedures for more
effective enforcement.

Enforcement

In dealing with reports of suspected contraventions of
the UEMO, we may issue advisory or warning letters. If
the number of reports received against a sender is below
a certain threshold, we will issue an advisory letter to the
sender, requiring it to observe the requirements under
the UEMO. If the number of reports received exceeds the

threshold or we continue to receive negative reports about

the same sender after the issuance of an advisory letter, we
will conduct a formal investigation and may issue a warning
letter.

In 2012/13, a total of 332 advisory letters and 69 warning
letters were issued. In the event of repeated contraventions
by the senders of commercial electronic messages, we may
consider issuing enforcement notices directing the sender
to take steps to remedy the offences. Anyone who fails to
comply with the enforcement notice may be liable to a fine
of up to HK$100,000 on first conviction. In 2012/13, we

issued a total of eight enforcement notices.

Expansion of the Registration Scheme
for Buildings with Optical Fibre Access
Networks

When it was launched in 2010, the Registration Scheme for
Buildings with Optical Fibre Access Networks (the Scheme)
covered only residential buildings. We extended the
Scheme in April 2013 to cover also non-residential buildings.
As at early April 2013, the Scheme has registered over
13 500 residential buildings, representing about 2.2 million
households or 84% of the total number of households in
Hong Kong. Over 80% of these buildings belong to the
FTTH category. In addition, over 1 500 non-residential
buildings, representing 18% of all non-residential buildings

in the territory, have been registered with the Scheme.

Chapter 6 Facilitating Market Competition and Strengthening Consumer Protection
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The Prize Presentation Ceremony for the 4-Panel Comic Drawing
Competition on Smart Use of Communications Services was held at

OFCA Headquarters.

HEEHEEE

REPTREESERENZHE

FTHE2013FIREMT —1R
ZILL TEERABEARBAR, HEBNEBREE -
Bl —RE2BANFMRETRGHERE - BELE
RATREHERWHEEEM T  REBEBUNER

& © th5h - BRI Y IS ATBENEREE « W2
SRMFLLBENR LERASES - LEBSBARS
EURE) - WANRRERK—RIER - MBI AERR

AR - BAIRE2012
HEEHBEE  #EH—

@i NIRERR ) MR EMRBANEIEER - &
T EAUHEEREESS BN 2012 13FEE N

MAPEBE ISR ZEARNARLEEEEREE
BEREE -

FARE (BEMERE MERERES

dm‘“m

— - -
= . ! |
i ¥l i - =

—*I“ 4 -

% ¥ - 2. - . ¥ = - — = b

5 i a o LT G S i
¢ | et

x

|

BARBL TRERBAERRBAR ) BEE - 12012 135FE
B —RIEEERFFBLESE -

With the theme of “Smart Use of Communications Services”, a
number of consumer education activities and programmes were
organised in 2012/13.

20126 FH » REEBMBAIKIL -
HHNEREEREANELEEERT  RINAFEEERK -
BRAMSELNESHEER  UREEHAE - HENE
BERITRENARSHNARTT - IRBEEBEMNA
HEM - FLFEFEH 2013, 14AFEEIELET -

BAMRIET 2

BRI E BT bﬂlﬂéﬁiEiﬁﬁﬁ@—ﬂﬂﬁi"%EﬁEm&
OFCA organises consumer education seminars to raise public
awareness of how to use communications services properly.
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Consumer Education Programmes

In July 2012, in order to enhance public awareness of
how to select and use communications services effectively,
OFCA launched a consumer education campaign lasting
until March 2013. With the theme of “Smart Use of
Communications Services”, a number of consumer
education activities and programmes were organised during
the period. One of the highlights was the launch of six
rounds of a roving exhibition, featuring display panels which
provided useful consumer tips to the public, and a game
booth and photo corner, at different venues across the
territory. In addition, nine public seminars and school talks,
a 4-panel comic drawing competition and an online quiz
game were held to encourage interactive participation by

the community. A series of short videos on how to prevent
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“mobile bill shock” and matters to take note of when
entering into telecommunications service contracts were
also broadcast on different media channels. In addition to
these consumer education activities, two consumer alerts
were issued by OFCA in 2012/13 to educate the public on

how to better protect their consumer rights.

In mid-2012, OFCA produced new television and radio
Announcements in Public Interest (APIs) to publicise the
establishment of the CA. The APIs are broadcast on
different media channels, including local free and pay
television channels, as well as radio channels. Publicity
posters on the same subject have also been produced and
displayed in the common areas of various premises, such
as District Offices and public housing estates. The publicity

programmes will continue in 2013/14.
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OFCA produced a new set of television and radio announcements and a poster to publicise the establishment of the CA.
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OFCA maintains good ties with overseas counterparts by exchanging views with them on various regulatory matters.
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Participation in International and
Regional Conferences

OFCA takes an active part in the activities of, and maintains
close contact with, a number of international and regional
organisations, particularly by participating in relevant
telecommunications conferences and fora around the world.

In 2012/13, we attended a total of 19 conferences/meetings
organised by regional and international organisations,
including the International Telecommunication Union
(ITU), Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC), Asia-
Pacific Telecommunity (APT) and the International Institute
of Communications (IIC). These events included the
World Telecommunication Standardisation Assembly, the
World Conference on International Telecommunications
and the 12th Global Symposium for Regulators of the
ITU. We will continue to participate in the activities of
the APEC Telecommunications and Information Working
Group (APEC TEL) and APT with the aim of improving the
telecommunications and information infrastructure in the

Asia-Pacific region.

Exchanges with Authorities
in the Mainland and Overseas
Administrations

In 2012/13, we received four delegations from different
parts of the world that came to exchange views and
experiences on various issues relating to communications
services. These included delegations from the Ministry of
Culture of Denmark, the Media Development Authority of
Singapore, the Ministry of Communications of Israel, and

the Communications Regulatory Commission of Mongolia.

During the year, we held annual bilateral meetings with
the Infocomm Development Authority of Singapore, the
Bureau of Telecommunication Regulations of Macau, and
the Guangdong Communications Administration. Courtesy
visits were also paid to the State Administration of Radio,
Film and Television and Ministry of Industry and Information
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OFCA attended the International Regulators Forum organised by
the IIC on 6 October 2012.

Technology, and to the Australian Communications and
Media Authority.

Media and Community Relations

We always take an active role in keeping the public informed
of our work. In 2012/13, we issued 36 press releases,
21 of which concerned major decisions made after the
regular CA meetings, while the others were on the OFCA
responses to media enquiries and subjects relating to major
initiatives and events. We also published an article in major
local newspapers elaborating our views on a significant
telecommunications issue. The speeches and presentations
made by the Director-General of Communications at public
seminars, events and industry conferences have been
published on our website. This has helped in disseminating

our messages to the industry and the public.

Public Education

We conduct school talks on different categories of television
programme service in Hong Kong and on how the audience
can make informed viewing choices. During the past year,
we gave ten talks to students at seven primary schools and

three secondary schools.
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Participation in Communications
Activities

In September 2012, OFCA joined hands with 15 other
government departments and hiking organisations to
participate in the annual campaign “Mountaineering
Safety Promotion Day” organised by the Civil Aid Service to
promote hiking safety. At the event, operating under the
theme: “Be Prepared for Your Outing: Know more about
Communications in Country Areas”, OFCA set up a booth
featuring digital maps showing mobile network coverage
along individual hiking trails and providing tips on the
selection of appropriate communications devices for hiking
by means of interactive games, informative display panels
and live demonstrations.

OFCA is also a keen supporter of various industry activities.
During the year under review, in addition to acting as
supporting organisation for a range of programmes,
OFCA sponsored two industry campaigns: the World
Telecommunications and Information Society Day (WTISD)
and the SafeWiFi Campaign, co-organised by CAHK and
the Hong Kong Wireless Technology Industry Association
respectively. WTISD is an annual campaign launched by
CAHK to promote the youth community’s awareness of
information and communications technology developments
in Hong Kong through a programme of interesting
competitions. The SafeWiFi Campaign, on the other hand,
aims to enhance public awareness of WiFi security through a
series of territory-wide surveys, the organisation of a public
seminar and the creation of an official website.

The Work of Advisory Committees
Telecommunications Advisory Committees

Three advisory committees — the Telecommunications
Regulatory Affairs Advisory Committee, the Radio Spectrum
and Technical Standards Advisory Committee and the
Telecommunications Users and Consumers Advisory
Committee — were established under OFCA in June

2012. These committees provide a regular and formal

channel for concerned and interested parties to advise
OFCA on the formulation and implementation of various

telecommunications measures and policies.

Members of the advisory committees are drawn from
different parts of the telecommunications industry,
relevant government departments and non-governmental
organisations, as well as from the general public. This helps
provide a balanced representation of views on sometimes
highly technical and complex issues. The term of service is

two years.

The membership lists of the three advisory committees as at
31 March 2013 can be found in Appendix B.

Television and Radio Consultative Scheme

The role of the Television and Radio Consultative Scheme
is to provide qualitative input on television and radio
programming to the CA’s public consultation process.
Members are appointed from the territory’s 18 districts.
In 2012/13, OFCA invited members’ views on the
review of codes of practice on commercial references
within programmes on channels acquired for direct re-
transmission on domestic free television programme
services; identification of television advertisements adopting
a programme style; and the applicability of advertising time-
limits to promos for television and radio advertisements.
Members were also invited to give their views during the
2013 public engagement exercise on programme quality
and variety provided by the two domestic free television
programme service licensees. The views collected formed
part of the CA consultation process.

Chapter 7 External and Community Relations
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OFCA organises a variety of staff activities to help our staff members develop a healthy life style and foster a greater sense of belonging.
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An Energetic and Versatile Workforce

To provide world-class service amid the fast-changing and
ever-advancing telecommunications and broadcasting
environment, we take a forward-looking and integrated
approach to human resource management and strategic
manpower planning. Organisational reviews are conducted
regularly to ensure the best use of our resources and that
the services we provide will always meet the needs and

expectations of the community.

As at 31 March 2013, we had an overall staff strength of
395, comprising 282 civil servants and 113 employed on

non-civil service contract terms.

Training and Development

We attach great importance to the training and
development of our staff members and strive to enhance
their capabilities to deal with the challenges posed by the
evolving environment, such as emerging new technologies,
increasing public demands and internal driving forces arising

from various business initiatives.

To prepare for the challenges arising from the
implementation of the CO and Trade Descriptions (Unfair
Trade Practices) (Amendment) Ordinance 2012, we have
tailor-made training for staff to equip them with the
knowledge and skills required in enforcing the relevant

ordinance. In addition, a variety of vocational and
managerial courses and in-house training programmes
were conducted in 2012/13, including courses on criminal
law, competition law, prosecution and investigation skills,
next generation networks, management and leadership,
as well as languages, communications, information
technology, integrity management and national studies. We
continued to sponsor staff members on courses organised
by international organisations and overseas institutions,
for example, the ITU, to enhance their technical and
professional skills. The trainee count for the year was 491

and the training man-days count was 815.

Awards and Commendations

In 2012/13, four OFCA staff members received the Director-
General's Commendation for Long and Valuable Service,
27 received the Long and Meritorious Service Award,
and five received the Long and Meritorious Service Travel
Award. To encourage staff members to make continuous
improvements to our services, we recognised one suggestion
with an award under the Staff Suggestion Scheme for the

year.

Recreational Activities and Volunteer
Services

To help our staff members develop a healthy life style and
foster a greater sense of belonging, we regularly organise
programmes of staff recreational activities, including
outings, luncheon talks, sports activities and an annual
departmental dinner gathering. Our staff members also
participated in the Corporate Games 2012. To demonstrate
our corporate social responsibility and our sincere care for
the community, we also took part in a number of volunteer
and charity events. We have been awarded the “Caring
Organisation” logo by the Hong Kong Council of Social

Service in consecutive years since 2007.
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Financial Results 2012/13

. With the establishment of the Communications Authority (CA) and
the Office of the Communications Authority (OFCA) in April 2012,
2012/13 was a year of transition for the OFCA Trading Fund.

. The total revenue at HK$485.8 million surpassed last year’s
HK$411.6 million. The increase reflected the inclusion of revenues
from broadcasting licensees. The total expenditure at HK$374.9
million was higher than last year's HK$274.2 million. The inclusion
of expenditures for regulating broadcasting services is the main

reason for the increase in total expenditure.

. Other incomes (mainly interest income) increased to HK$46.5 million
from HK$40.3 million in 2011/12. The average interest yield was
4.0%, higher than last year's 3.6%, primarily because of the full

year impact of a placement with the Exchange Fund made in 2011.

. The pre-tax profit decreased to HK$110.9 million from HK$137.4
million a year ago and the rate of return on average net fixed assets

dropped to 31.4% from 48.8% in 2011/12.

. With the continued growth of the information and communications
sector, a strong statement of financial position and a dedicated
and professional team in OFCA, we are well placed to face the

challenges in the coming year.
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B - Highlights of the financial performance:

2012/13 201112

BRET BEAT

HK$'m HK$'m

WA Revenue 485.8 4116
S H Expenditure 374.9 274.2
eI &R Pre-tax profit 110.9 1374
BHERE Proposed dividend 92.9 115.2
B E & B9 FERR Return on ANFA 31.4% 48.8%

KA Revenue

FRRE

ROV,

Licence fees
84.8% (84.6%)

& i Expenditure

75.9% (80.6%)

* FERSRAA2011 126 EET

In parentheses are 2011/12 figures

&

Service charges
" 5.5% (5.5%)

FEWA
Interest income
9.5% (9.6%)

B
Miscellaneous revenue
0.2% (0.3%)

©iE
Operation
7 20.6% (14.0%)

IENEE
Depreciation & amortisation
3.0% (3.7%)

A

Consultanc
0.5% (1.7%)
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Report of the Director of Audit

Audit Commission
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

Independent Audit Report
To the Legislative Council

| certify that | have examined and audited the financial statements of the
Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund set out on pages 49 to
78, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2013,
and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity
and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

General Manager, Office of the Communications
Authority Trading Fund’s Responsibility for the
Financial Statements

The General Manager, Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund
is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with section 7(4) of the Trading Funds Ordinance (Cap.
430) and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal
control as the General Manager, Office of the Communications Authority
Trading Fund determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud

or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on my audit. | conducted my audit in accordance with section 7(5) of the
Trading Funds Ordinance and the Audit Commission auditing standards.
Those standards require that | comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Report of the Director of Audit

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the General Manager, Office of the
Communications Authority Trading Fund, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the financial statements.

| believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate

to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion

In my opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund as at
31 March 2013, and of its results of operations and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the manner provided in

section 7(4) of the Trading Funds Ordinance.

\/7’\'?“/

LAU Sun-wo
Assistant Director of Audit
for Director of Audit

Audit Commission

26th Floor, Immigration Tower

7 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
26 September 2013
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BAfEERE< Financial Statements

2HEHPIER Statement of Comprehensive Income
BE2013F3831HILFE for the year ended 31 March 2013
(LUESEF T 57 ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
Mzt 2013 2012
Note
EEE Turnover 3 439,251 371,362
BERAK Operating costs 4 (374,862) (274,169)
EERT Profit from operations 64,389 97,193
E A Other income 5 46,508 40,253
ZEMNERIERHN Profit before notional profits tax 110,897 137,446
BENER Notional profits tax 6 (17,988) (22,222)
FERR Profit for the year 92,909 115,224
Hin2mas Other comprehensive income - -
FERZEMR Total comprehensive income for the year 92,909 115,224
B EEEHE Rate of return on fixed assets 7 31.4% 48.8%
BH3F T8 EHHIM T R AR IR A — BB © The notes on pages 53 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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VR ETES

Financial Statements

HiFEAkn R Statement of Financial Position
R2013¢3F31H as at 31 March 2013
(LUESEF T 5T ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
Bzt 2013 2012
Note
ERBNEE Non-current assets
M ~ SRR Property, plant and equipment 8 173,727 162,829
EFEE Intangible assets 9 2,316 1,525
SNEESTFR Placement with the Exchange Fund 10 762,687 722,241
938,730 886,595
mEAEE Current assets
FEMRTR ~ IR LFBNFRIA Debtors, deposits and advance payments 2,761 5,559
FEM BRI A L IRFR Amounts due from related parties 22 369 .
FEWANEE S TRFIE Interest receivable from placement with the 9,403 10,056
Exchange Fund
HithEWRI S8 Other interest receivable 1,923 1,613
RITH Bank deposits 383,700 369,800
Re MIRITIHER Cash and bank balances 904,966 12,122
1,303,122 399,150
mENaE Current liabilities
FERIRFA N ERTE A Creditors and accruals 916,838 10,359
EEEFRE Provision for employee benefits 12 8,636 7,327
FET BRI A TIRFR Amounts due to related parties 22 68,485 23,328
B Deferred income 13 163,377 143,290
e RE=RIEH Notional profits tax payable 4,875 12,376
1,162,211 196,680
REEEFE Net current assets 140,911 202,470
BEERERIAERE Total assets less current liabilities 1,079,641 1,089,065
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
RIER R Deferred tax 1 1,751 1,239
EEEFRE Provision for employee benefits 12 82,416 70,037
84,167 71,276
FEE NET ASSETS 995,474 1,017,789
BARB AR CAPITAL AND RESERVES
EEESER Trading fund capital 14 212,400 212,400
BEEE Development reserve 15 690,165 690,165
REEF Retained earnings 16 - -
KA Proposed dividend 17 92,909 115,224
995,474 1,017,789

FEOIE TSR A B AHI—E 5

The notes on pages 53 to 78 form part of these financial statements.

A4

NEat iss Eliza Lee

BIEEESERMAT General Manager,

SEEDIRKE Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund
2013498 26H 26 September 2013
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BAfEERE< Financial Statements

S EEIR Statement of Changes in Equity
B FE20135F3H31HILFE for the year ended 31 March 2013
(LUESEF T 57 ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
2013 2012
FAAEER Balance at beginning of year 1,017,789 992,758
FEE2EREG Total comprehensive income for the year 92,909 115,224
FARAENKE Dividend paid during the year (115,224) (90,193)
FAREEAR Balance at end of year 995,474 1,017,789
FE53F T8EHIN At BRI ISR — 584 © The notes on pages 53 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements

U ETES

HWERER Statement of Cash Flows
B FE20135F3H31HILFE for the year ended 31 March 2013
(LUESEF T 57 ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
Mat 2013 2012
Note
EEEBZEERE Cash flows from operating activities
BIERA Profit from operations 64,389 97,193
B R Sundry income 497 864
M RIBERB/MINE Depreciation of property, plant and 10,743 9,756
equipment
IR & S Amortisation of intangible assets 442 488
FEWIRSR ~ Ime RIBNFIERL Decrease / (Increase) in debtors, deposits and 2,811 (2,921)
(38m) advance payments
FEUERE AT IRSR (32h0) R (Increase) / Decrease in amounts due from (369) 1,285
related parties
FE IR M BT E 0, (R ) Increase / (Decrease) in creditors and accruals 903,359 (146,444)
FENT BB AT IRFRAE N Increase in amounts due to related parties 32,177 4,283
IEEU A DD Increase in deferred income 20,087 41,536
EERABRIEEIN Increase in provision for employee benefits 13,688 5,491
ENBENER Notional profits tax paid (24,977) (16,528)
EEIIBME (FrA) REFHE Net cash from / (used in) operating 1,022,847 (4,997)
activities
BREBEBZRERE Cash flows from investing activities
SNEESFRIE N Increase in placement with the Exchange (40,446) (722,241)
Fund
BEHRA=EALIEMEITEE  Decrease in bank deposits with original 33,400 319,600
B maturity over three months
EEYE  RIENBVMNELEE Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (6,767) (5,692)
and intangible assets
HEMXE  RELBMATEFWE Net proceeds from disposal of property, plant 32 51
and equipment
BHAE Interest received 46,302 35,941
WEEBME(FA) RE58E Net cash from / (used in) investing 32,521 (372,341)
activities
MEEAZHAESRE Cash flows from financing activities
BEAKE Dividend paid (115,224) (90,193)
MEIEEFTRRE 3% Net cash used in financing activities (115,224) (90,193)
HERERIREAEM(FEL) Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 940,144 (467,531)
B equivalents
FUNIREEERRE Cash and cash equivalents at 19,122 486,653
beginning of year
FRNBEERERRE Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 18 959,266 19,122

FBOE3ETSHMIME A B TAI—E S

The notes on pages 53 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements

RAFSERaRpffaE

(BR¥FRIFEERS) » B £ERELUBM FITL IR )

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

1. #8535

BIMDERE1995F 58 10HIRE (BEES
BeBI) (55430F ) 3~ 4ROGBIERZE -
R1995F6R1HARYEBNEER (BMF)
LEAS - SANREEESRIEME20124F4R
TEFRERN (BMEEEEREMN) (5
616% ) F25MME > REABEHDER
NENMEBERERRATEERES, (B8R
£) - BNEBEER (BNR) Z2RE (8
MEBEEREE) RIZANEERE  2ER
TRIEBMENAITIF - BARAEE
MAIT (EHEEB) ($562F) ~ (F|AE
By (28106%) &2 (FEBB TN EMHEH)
(28593%) - EEESHBNEBFHIT
BB (BUT) MEBASERRR - 28&
EMERFHBE

(a) BIARIFELERBRIBAVRENAEE

(b) FERBBENEE

© HEN EERREZASFEIABRS
Uk  RBTZERT

@) EREERENERRESE L RERN
RE ;

(&) T (FIEMBTREREH) MR

() BEBREREELOATHS -

FNE HBERR

1. General

The Office of the Telecommunications Authority (OFTA) Trading Fund was
established on 1 June 1995 under the Legislative Council Resolution passed on
10 May 1995 pursuant to sections 3, 4 and 6 of the Trading Funds Ordinance
(Cap. 430). By virtue of section 25 of the Communications Authority Ordinance
(CAO) (Cap. 616) which came into operation on 1 April 2012, the OFTA Trading
Fund was renamed as the Office of the Communications Authority Trading
Fund (the Fund) on the same date. The Fund serves as the executive arm of
the Communications Authority (CA), which is a statutory body set up under
the CAO to administer and enforce the Broadcasting Ordinance (Cap. 562),
the Telecommunications Ordinance (Cap. 106) and the Unsolicited Electronic
Messages Ordinance (UEMO) (Cap. 593). The Fund is under the policy portfolio
of the Commerce and Economic Development Bureau of the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the Government). The principal

activities undertaken by the Fund include:

(@) licensing and regulating telecommunications services and broadcasting

services;

(b) managing Hong Kong’s radio frequency spectrum;

(c) providing advisory, planning and support services on telecommunications,
broadcasting, anti-spamming matters to the Government;

(d) overseeing technical standards and representing the Government on
international affairs;

(e) enforcing the UEMO; and

(f)  ensuring the enforcement of fair competition in relation to telecommunications

and broadcasting sectors.
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RAFSERaRpffaE

(BR¥FRIFEERS) » B £ERELUBM FITL IR )

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2.

(a)

EREEER
GEREIL T

AP BHRRRIZREBRBIZTRAK
FrBERNEBMBEREER (LARR
B BEREREEGMASRBIME
BRNERNEBMBEREER  FEES
HAINERE) RK - EEESRKWNER
DEBORREAT -

ERUBRROER

R BMRREER Y LURERAE

e

R DB BRELERIFRE
FEEEREFEHAE B RERR - &
FHE - AR ABREFESHEERNE
e IR EEREBEMRA R HN 2R
R - E AR RN RR - BT
e L EMERRBER TR AR ENEA
RMHIE - WERBEMRKERAHS
= AgRARSEABRERAER
REELRRNIREENER - FHER
HEREREEEMAR -

ZE AT B ER S WA -
MBI REEARGEH - FIEFELIBET
HIEARIER - (BN EARI RN E T
B ARBIIESEZIRRKRBAEA
R -

2.

(a)

(b)

Significant accounting policies

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs), a collective term which
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(HKASs) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (HKICPA). A summary of the significant accounting
policies adopted by the Fund is set out below.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements
is historical cost.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis
for making judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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HA 5 ERaREE NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BR¥FRIFLEES) - BT £ 8B LB F i ) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. TEFETBR (#48) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) FEMBEHRMER (&) (b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)
SEESHEERSTTEE AL AL R There are no critical accounting judgements involved in the application
AIBARAV S ST FIET - MEmEARRIEENE of the Fund’s accounting policies. There are also no key assumptions
2R NERSHRERBGTARREE concerning the future, or other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
ARBREAAR - BN ERER - end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
BEREENEENREDSETREKNR adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next year.
B3] -

(c) BE&EE (c) Fixed assets
R1995F6 A 1HERZEEESNEEE The fixed assets appropriated to the Fund on 1 June 1995 were measured
B RUMNRAERKRBIEBRIE1995 initially at deemed cost equal to the value contained in the Resolution of the
FS5R10HBANREPRAMIINMBEAN Legislative Council passed on 10 May 1995. Fixed assets acquired since 1
kK- B199°F 6 1HEBENBEEE June 1995 are capitalised at the actual costs of acquisition or installation.

& IRABENERNERRAS AR -

) % LERET (i) Property, plant and equipment
Y -~ BB NBVIEBIRBEAE The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
MR ETITE LT MREBES IR less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses (note 2(d)):
(MzE2(d)) -

- AR RAMEREMN Tt LA + land dassified as held under a finance lease and building held for
NEFMBERYEE own use situated thereon;

 RIEBELRTIHM > BREEMEEER « plant and equipment, including telecommunications and
B BiEERR FRE EKELE broadcasting equipment, computer systems, furniture, fixtures and
Wy © motor vehicles.
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BRI eRE=
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(BR¥FRIFEERS) » B £ERELUBM FITL IR )

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. EEFEBUR (#8)

(c) BIE&EE (#)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) Fixed assets (continued)

() W% RfekHHT (F) @)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

TERZRRBREME - RIBRS[MHM
SHRAIEREY - R ARG RIS

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,

plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, on a straight-

B BUERZHBEENAE - B

line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

IR ERFERAZIT ¢
- WIRBMER RENRSRS +  land dlassified as held under a over the unexpired term
J=tiunt: i HEE finance lease of lease
. fIRFEELH  EREBREEF +  Buildings situated on leasehold over the shorter of the
HEE A AE land unexpired term of lease
B & PR and their useful lives
REtE
. & S5E124F «  Equipment 5to 12 years
- BEER 54 + Computer systems 5 years
- ERERKE 54 «  Furniture and fixtures 5 years
. EHH 54 + Motor vehicles 5 years

HEWRE » RiBRSMATELRIER
D EMRPEEE ENIREELZE
MERRIORE - TREEERE2E
W an IR AVHERR ©

Gains or losses arising from the disposal of property, plant and

equipment are determined as the difference between the net disposal

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in

the statement of comprehensive income on the date of disposal.
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HA 5 ERaREE NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BR¥FRIFLEES) - BT £ 8B LB F i ) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. TEFETBR (#48) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) BEEE (#) (c) Fixed assets (continued)
(i) BEEE (i) Intangible assets
| EEBEBANEISTAFEIEK Intangible assets include acquired computer software licences and
EEXRCHNWEMRERELNRBHRLR capitalised development costs of computer software programs.
1B - NERLIRERR AT EAM AT Expenditure on development of computer software programs is
MEEESEEHERNE T capitalised if the programs are technically feasible and the Fund has
BT FENFAZREREHESR sufficient resources and intention to complete development. The
£t - EXERBEEEIELY expenditure capitalised includes direct labour and cost of materials.
RER BEEERKRAEINRR Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
SHESE LI RDBREBESIR (KR any impairment losses (note 2(d)).
2(d)) -
M EENBEEIFRI12ENEE Amortisation of intangible assets is charged to the statement of
AET A AFIRLEREIIAZE R comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the assets’
#EK ° estimated useful lives of 5 to 12 years.
(d) BEEERRE (d) Impairment of fixed assets
BE&EE (BEWE  REKBMANER The carrying amounts of fixed assets, including property, plant and
EE) MREETSEREHERBFT equipment and intangible assets, are reviewed at the end of each reporting
& DEEESERBERR o period to identify any indication of impairment.
MERBESR SEEENKRAESR If any such indication exists, an impairment loss is recognised in the
AR E R AERBEBESES statement of comprehensive income whenever the carrying amount of an
MK HFTATER - EENAIINESERE asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is
NEEREHERAREFRAEMETNRS the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
=
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. EREFECR ()
(e) LHEERESHMAR

(i)

NhaTERD

LEESREYNBEENSINER
HAZRKEREERSREESD
RER N EWIRR » DI H A& R
afE-

TREERESRE ERIRATER
B ATEBEESRERE L
FHEEcHEENELESREENE
BESIHMRZHA

mMals -

SRR

SRR EWR A B 2 5 H) LU E
e BERHZLBRE
BEEESESRBFERZMEBNIE
ITESRMEE - AR RSRBKIR
O BUEEATIRK ~ BRI
SNEESER  RITHER  BE MR
TTHESR o

SRR ERIRF IR A B R AR
HEAENRBESR (MF) Jitk
(BaE2(e)V)) °

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities

(i)

(ii)

Initial recognition

The Fund classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities into
different categories at inception, depending on the purpose for which
the assets were acquired or the liabilities were incurred. The categories

are loans and receivables, and other financial liabilities.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured initially at fair value,
which normally equals to the transaction prices plus transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets or
issue of the financial liabilities.

The Fund recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date

it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Categorisation

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and
which the Fund has no intention of trading. This category includes
debtors, amounts due from related parties, interest receivable,
placement with the Exchange Fund, bank deposits and cash and bank
balances.

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective

interest method less impairment losses, if any (note 2(e)(iv)).
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2. EREFECR ()
(e) LREERESMER (4)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(i) 2% (#)

(i) Categorisation (continued)

59

(ii)

BNE

ERLEWIRR (1)

BERANR LR ESHEENTAE
ERVEERAE - UREBDERES
BRI SRS YT % » BFRF
RERASER T AEAER B XA
(REAMBEHE) ANTERE
WAEXH @ AR ZEREENS
A ERIREFEMERARMKERERK -
EEESHEMNBEERNRE > 25 F
R T AN ENHEALUGE RS
mE  BEAEEERNEERERE B
BStE BE AR RAEHN A
WEIAXNTENETNER X5
B S AT s E e

Hitem B E

HiteR B ERABRRNREREE
RUAMEFIR

REHRERD
ENSREERTRSNEN SR
MEmE  NEEMEEBERERRE
MATEERAR KL OHRE KSR
ZEMEEQWIHER -
EAWIERPNEHRER - BUSSE

HiRS - R A E SRS o

BAFM R

Loans and receivables (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the
interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating
the effective interest rate, the Fund estimates cash flows considering
all contractual terms of the financial instruments but does not consider
future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees received or paid
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective

interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

(iii) Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to receive
the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or where the financial
asset together with substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the

contract is discharged or cancelled, or when it expires.
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2. EREFECR ()
(e) LREERESMER (4)

(iv) ERMEEMNFRE

SRR ERIRAAREEN SE RS
HRERBETME  LIEEBEE I
BENWREER - IGFEEEER -
BEBRSREEENREERRK
ERANXAERSNFAEREEFAR
BeRENRECRNER  £2H
Wik 3 NHERR © ERVERB BN EERN
HEmA - MEE CEpEBRRESR
RB|EMEMHHER > ERERSE
fEHEMD -

(f) BEFER

0)

0

RE (BBGEA) (F1128) > @8
ESWERKEE - BEFEREE
ESBABF—RBAST —E58
DIREBRNEHR (BR2FNER) @ &
RIRRRE (BBEGE) NREFFT
8 - AFERBFEHH /A
B IERER N EER B ERNED

KB RAFEHERBIRNIRZER
SRR EERHEL LEERH
BERSTERTAF BAR - MBERENU
TFEERATREMAE -

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(iv) Impairment of financial assets

The carrying amounts of loans and receivables are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. If any such evidence exists, an impairment
loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original
effective interest rate. If in a subsequent period, the amount of such
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through the statement of comprehensive

income.

(f) Notional profits tax

i)

(ii)

The Fund has no tax liability under the Inland Revenue Ordinance
(Cap.112). However, the Government requires the Fund to pay to the
General Revenue an amount in lieu of profits tax (i.e. notional profits
tax) calculated on the basis of the provisions of the Inland Revenue
Ordinance. Notional profits tax expense for the year comprises current

tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of

previous years.
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2. EEEEBUR (#8)

(f) 2EFER (F)

(iit)

BRI E E KRR EDBIA B K
ERBNERMEEREESL - EFEE
REREEENGENRAERETH
HEIEEMEE - EERAREETAH
RERBBERLTAERMELS

FTBELER A EELATBARRAESD
BERBBEA MEHRERALIEHEE
BREANELEHNEE  ITER -

EERFNEBRBEIREEELE
ERIREEN TR EE S ET N
DS #FERA EE?&Z%ﬁ$LEEE
BB KRR - BRERAEEREE
PAREREIRFTE

BB AR E ERREEN S EREH
fERBETRE » HERR/AREILE
EHERRBANUBRZERBEF
& BIZAMSEIREEREERIR © &H)
BREER AR R E R AR AT BE
R -

(9) WHARERD

&

0)

BWERETANELZRA  TEERE
REANTEIR as PN - IRF BRI
FEIR IR ISR WHESR - A SR
BRI 2RI SRR

BAFEMR R

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f) Notional profits tax (continued)

(i) Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax

losses and unused tax credits.

All deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the

assets can be utilised, are recognised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such deduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available.

(9) Revenue recognition

(i)  Licence fees received are credited to deferred income and amortised to
profit and loss over the validity period of the licences. Service income
is recognised when services have been provided. Interest income is

recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.
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2.

(9)

EREFBUR (F8)
WA ()

(i) SHTENEBRERTEEHESHAT
ARG ERAS WA RAER - R
ZARNEM T ENATFEZS R
ELENHEARISHEGARRERENK
AR ©

(ii) EAUNIRIERTEIRFER

LEESHREEBRBRABEREGNRES -
e FUmiE RERASIERERM
BERBNEEA LB EEEBARK
AABEMS @ RENHENFE AR
BT R T EENERAEREEEHN » 13
ERERMEBERBNFEESH -

ARAZRREHEAZEBNABERES
RERTFBRARBHNSENME R
¥ - BEMEER BB AESFT IR
REREW R

EAL

LEESERE (BEESBKRE) BIL -
BRBUTE T — BB T B - AF
NELSEESHNEEXRZHE LARE
BATETRS > HRBESRRB LK
JFERPT ~ EEES - DINEBUFATEHIZ
BUTHEBERTE NN BB EHE -

2.

(9)

(h)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(i) Realised gains or losses on financial instruments are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income when the financial instruments are
derecognised. Changes in fair value of trading financial instruments
are recognised as revaluation gains or losses in the statement of
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

(iii) Other income is recognised on an accrual basis.
Employee benefits

The employees of the Fund comprise civil servants and contract staff.
Salaries, staff gratuities, and annual leave entitlements are accrued and
recognised as expenditure in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by the staff. For civil servants, staff on-costs, including pensions
and housing benefits provided to the staff by the Government, are charged

as expenditure in the year in which the associated services are rendered.

For civil servants employed on pensionable terms, their pension liabilities
are discharged by reimbursement of the staff on-cost charged by the
Government. For other staff, contributions to the Mandatory Provident
Fund (MPF) Scheme are charged to the statement of comprehensive income
as incurred.

Related parties

The Fund is a separate accounting entity within the Government established
under the Trading Funds Ordinance. During the year, the Fund has entered
into transactions with various related parties, including government bureaux
and departments, trading funds and financially autonomous bodies
controlled or significantly influenced by the Government, in the ordinary
course of its business.
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2. TEGETBR (#48) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(j) 4ShiminE (j) Foreign currency translation
FRALMNERBMNR 5B BNRE Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into Hong Kong
PERBME BT - UBTIMNE RS dollars using the spot exchange rates at the transaction dates. Monetary
N EBEEREEHMUREHHEEREN assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than Hong Kong dollars
WHERRE ABTT - FTEIMNESKREER are translated into Hong Kong dollars using the closing exchange rate at the
HEDEM R ATER © end of the reporting period. All foreign currency translation differences are

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

k) RERFRHAE (k) Cash and cash equivalents
B MNERRSBERSMBITES - LU Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank balances, and other
K H A A BRI A E M BRI S VS HA short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known
KESERBMNEEZBRARARNNE amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
& BEREASEAREEESH B A ES having been within three months of maturity when placed or acquired.
=fER -

() BERIEERE (I) Provisions and contingent liabilities

63 ENE

WARERENFHABELENEER
£ METZEEARSERE R @I
o WA A SRR KSR
HBENENEEFHER - E KRR
BEEEKX  AZBEETEEMERX
AOEREMEH IR -

IS ER R IR A BENEBUE » SR EE
HEBRBRFHASENMG  BE8ZE
ERER/NEEE  ENEERRINARY
AIREMEAE B RIRRSD - ARFREFRHL R
ARBMEERET EREFARTHE
HEE TERERNEAE  BUKE
RARINARY A BE PR E RIERSD o

BAFEMR R

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when
there is a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.



OFFICE OF THE COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY  TRADING FUND REPORT 2012/13

BAfSERER Financial Statements

HA 5 ERaREE NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BR¥FRIGLEES) - BT £ 8B LB F LI ) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. TEGETBR (#48) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(m) FETHE BTN B AN BRELRNZE (m) Impact of new and revised HKFRSs

ERSIASERM Y LIEASFEE The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs that are first
ERRH TR ETNE B BRE % effective for the current accounting period. There have been no changes to
Al - WANKYBHREMEBENFEENS the accounting policies applied in these financial statements for the years
FTBUR » WRAZEREMBIALE - & presented as a result of these developments. The Fund has not applied any
EESISBRMERASTHRARERN new standard that is not yet effective for the current accounting period (note
RSB BEHRELER (FE24) - 24).
3. EX% 3. Turnover
2013 2012
BEERE Telecommunications licence fees
h B8 — = Licences — Private 38,818 36,744
RN S Licences — Public 327,629 311,332
ERRRE R E Broadcasting licence fees 45,766 -
mEE A TIRIARES (FI5E22()) Services provided to related parties (note 22(a)) 26,622 22,858
FEIRUA Miscellaneous revenue 416 428

439,251 371,362
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4, BIERAK 4. Operating costs
2013 2012
BTHA Staff costs 284,494 220,963
B NE: N DN Accommodation costs 32,198 10,166
EERX Operating expenses 31,873 19,155
THEX Administrative expenses 12,667 8,454
S Consultancy fees 1,982 4,771
M~ RELBIMITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10,743 9,756
M & EHE Amortisation of intangible assets 442 488
EZrER Audit fees 463 416
374,862 274,169
5. Efthllg A 5. Other income

2013 2012

FELIAFEFINRINERLE ERFI EWA Interest income from financial assets not at fair value
INEESTER Placement with the Exchange Fund 39,792 32,297
WITHER Bank deposits 6,164 7,052
IRITHENR Bank balances 2 3
45,958 39,352
IEIK R Sundry income 550 901
46,508 40,253
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6. BEFIEH

() MEmMEHEFRANRNLEFEHAT

6. Notional profits tax

(@) The notional profits tax charged to the statement of comprehensive income

is arrived at as follows:

2013 2012
AHEBFRFR Current tax
KEEZEFEHVERE Provision for notional profits tax for the year 17,476 22,079
IRIERR TR Deferred tax
A ENES KERE Origination and reversal of temporary differences 512 143
BENER Notional profits tax 17,988 22,222

(b) RIAXHEASFHBAZBRARXFTENYH
tREAT -

(b) The reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable

tax rate is as follows:

2013 2012
AMiFHRI A A Profit before tax 110,897 137,446
HREBRNERZE16.5% (20124 1 16.5%) Tax at Hong Kong profits tax rate of 16.5% 18,298 22,678

FTENBIE (2012: 16.5%)

— R ERIA One-off tax reduction (10) (12)
AAHIBHAZIHIEE Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 726 726
IEFEERMA N IEE Tax effect of non-taxable revenue (1,026) (1,170)
ZERIEZH Notional tax expense 17,988 22,222

7. BIEEERIHRE

EE&ERREEUE2EWS (RNEENS
WA~ ZONEREEFHRIF BRI R
MEBMF S ) BRUBEEETFERT
BHEIX  BEEERREYF KBNS
Mo URENEE - AMRAIRREE @ BH
SEESILIEINESFEIEEEBRLORE
REE6.7% (20124F 1 85%) -

7. Rate of return on fixed assets

The rate of return on fixed assets is calculated as total comprehensive income

(excluding interest income, notional profits tax on interest income from

placement with the Exchange Fund and interest expenses) divided by average net

fixed assets, and expressed as a percentage. Fixed assets include property, plant

and equipment and intangible assets. The Fund is expected to meet a target rate

of return on fixed assets of 6.7% per year (2012: 8.5%) as determined by the

Financial Secretary.
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8. ¥ - Rufe K234t

8. Property, plant and equipment

TR ERE Ea BHERE FARKE B oz
Land Equipment Computer Furniture Motor Total
and systems and vehicles
buildings fixtures
A Cost
201148 1H At 1 April 2011 220,243 49,959 36,110 32,280 3296 341,888
RE Additions - 1,066 1,717 1,857 867 5,507
& /5 Disposals - 21 (1,050) ) (378) (1,451)
2012438318  At31 March 2012 220,243 51,004 36,777 34,135 3,785 345944
2012648 1H At 1 April 2012 220,243 51,004 36,777 34,135 3,785 345944
RE Additions - 371 3,331 15,810 2,129 21,641
HE / 5EEE Disposals - - (1,431) (295) (675) (2,401)
2013538318  At31 March 2013 220,243 51,375 38,677 49,650 5239 365,184
REHIFE Accumulated depreciation
H2011E481H At 1 April 2011 64,826 42,305 33,219 31,575 2,880 174,805
ERFE Charge for the year 4,849 2,914 1,368 465 160 9,756
&S o] B Written back on disposal - 1) (1,045) @) (378) (1,446)
F20124E3831H At 31 March 2012 69,675 45,198 33,542 32,038 2,662 183,115
W2012€E481H At 1 April 2012 69,675 45,198 33,542 32,038 2,662 183,115
FRITE Charge for the year 4,849 2,977 1,531 946 440 10,743
HE S OB Written back on disposal - - (1,431) (295) (675) (2,401)
2013538318 At31March 2013 74,524 48,175 33,642 32,689 2427 191,457
IREFE Net book value
2013238318  At31 March 2013 145,719 3,200 5,035 16,961 2,812 173,727
M20124E3831H At 31 March 2012 150,568 5,806 3,235 2,097 1,123 162,829

FNE HBERR
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9. BMILEE 9. Intangible assets
ERSEhRRE R R B R E A
Computer software licences and
system development costs
2013 2012
2% Cost
FH4 At beginning of year 8,783 7,919
B Additions 1,233 864
HFEf% At end of year 10,016 8,783
RETHESH Accumulated amortisation
F4) At beginning of year 7,258 6,770
FERHEEE Charge for the year 442 488
F# At end of year 7,700 7,258
IRESFE Net book value
FHR At end of year 2,316 1,525
10. JMEEEFM 10. Placement with the Exchange Fund

NERESHEREHRABTEG,268.7TE#IT  The balance of the placement with the Exchange Fund amounted to

(20124F 1 7f82,22418%7T) » EHh7E  HK$762,687,000 (2012: HK$722,241,000), being the original placement of
EBILAREE  6,268. 78T (20124 : HK$700,000,000 plus interest paid of HK$62,687,000 (2012: HK$22,241,000)
2,224 1 E#TT) ARSHFERASDAEEBR  but not yet withdrawn at the end of the reporting period. The term of the
KIBIHAE - ZIFAEH0E (BFEFHRE  placement is six years from the date of placement, during which the amount of
) 0 IR BEREURBER ° original placement cannot be withdrawn.

HEESHERANEREGFTIABEMNEEESE  Interest on the placement is payable at a fixed rate determined every January.
E o ZEXRAESKREMABAGERTY  The rate is the average annual investment return of the Exchange Fund’s
FEREOR  RIFEHIEESESIEL—  Investment Portfolio for the past six years or the average annual yield of three-
BEENEHEZKLZS  UWETEEES  year Exchange Fund Notes for the previous year subject to a minimum of zero
o RNRAE0% - 2013FMEEEXRAESTHE  percent, whichever is the higher. The interest rate has been fixed at 5.0% per
5.0% » 20125 B EFH5.6% ° annum for the year 2013 and at 5.6% per annum for the year 2012.
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1. IEEMRFR

FEF BN R NFERRVEER AR B Z N EE

T

11. Deferred tax

Deferred tax recognised in the statement of financial position arises from
depreciation allowances in excess of the related depreciation and amortisation.

The movements during the year are as follows:

2013 2012
TR Balance at beginning of year 1,239 1,096
ReEERANER Charged to statement of comprehensive income 512 143
FHAERR Balance at end of year 1,751 1,239

12. @B R
VERERT R B R B BT R ORI T

BEFRAAVEENRMENGTEE (5
REyEE2()) »

13. SEFEUTA

It 7Rk IO KR R A B 7 R B SH D RE IR B U
TEER o

14 S BEEEAR

R BITHEBRESHIRE

12. Provision for employee benefits

This represents the estimated liability for employees’ annual leave and obligations
on contract-end gratuities payable to contract staff for services rendered up to

end of the reporting period (also see note 2(h)).

13. Deferred income

This represents the balance of licence fee income to be amortised over the
remaining validity period of the licences.

14. Trading fund capital

This represents the Government'’s investment in the Fund.

2013 2012

LEEIISEES S o

FNE HBERR

Balance at beginning and end of year 212,400 212,400
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15. BRHE 15. Development reserve
L& Ty R E R B B IR B3R AR S bl o This is a reserve serving as a regulating mechanism to meet the target return.
2013 2012
FH) R HAERR Balance at beginning and end of year 690,165 690,165
16. REBEF 16. Retained earnings
2013 2012
FEAESR Balance at beginning of year - -
FEMR2HEKES Total comprehensive income for the year 92,909 115,224
B S Proposed dividend (92,909) (115,224)
FHAERR Balance at end of year - -
17. BERR 17. Proposed dividend

FABFERE SR RIEFEEMREMEWEELEET  The proposed dividend to the Government is based on the total comprehensive
REBREERBERENERESESSIZES]  income for the year and the target dividend payout ratio of 100% (2012: 100%)
HHIT00% EZKREXR (20124 1 100%) /E stated in the annual business plan approved by the Secretary for Financial Services

i o and the Treasury.
2013 2012
FREER Balance at beginning of year 115,224 90,193
BEAKE Dividend paid (115,224) (90,193)
BRRE Dividend proposed 92,909 115,224
FHGERR Balance at end of year 92,909 115,224
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18. RERERIRE

18. Cash and cash equivalents

2013 2012

REe MIRITHERR Cash and bank balances 904,966 12,122

RITHER Bank deposits 383,700 369,800

1,288,666 381,922

BT REHIRR A =B B LI EAER1TIERR Less: Bank deposits with original maturity (329,400) (362,800)
beyond three months

RENERRS Cash and cash equivalents 959,266 19,122

19. BARKIE

R2013F3A31H » EEESHREBEMH
WERPEHERBNEARFENT

19. Capital commitments

At 31 March 2013, the Fund had capital commitments, so far as not provided for

in the financial statements, as stated below:

2013 2012
BN Contracted for 1,365 611
EEEREEHAREN Authorised but not contracted for 6,032 3,271
7,397 3,882

20. HHE*AE

R2013F3R31H » RNEEBUEEEM K
SHENARKRREREERBERNT ¢

20. Lease commitments

At 31 March 2013, the total future minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases for leased properties were payable as follows:

2013 2012

—FR Not later than one year - 4,498
—FREARZRAFE Later than one year but not later than five years - 1,500
- 5,998

FNE HBERR
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21. Hitbrkig

Y 7ERERELIIME B R B AR L FE RS
HERPZERABRNIRSEE  THEM
EEER201 2611 AR —BELRERER
B BEEMEN TREERFE L &
BR2012F10A 9O RATHIRMESE » &
EESREH2012F11B1HZE2014410A
318 Rt BIRHRIBRLEFRA

FR - SEESERAEIRA0.488TT -
2013%3H31H » @BESHAEIMARIN
AYER324.6BHTT ©

22. FAEATHIRZS

REEHBHRERASFRBENR S5 - LREE
ATERFEETHEMERRZHENT ¢

(@ MEBEATRERENREBERE
1,385,180 (20124 1 996.58
BIT) NEAMKIRE - DUREE
1,27718#7T (20124 © 1,289.38 %
JT) BRI ARERT

b)) EREALTRENRESERAZIS
FAX ~ REMEE  ZE2RR ~ PRE
BANE EEASHELRBRTH
3,876.98#7T (2012 4 1 1,839.58
Bit) R

21. Other commitments

To help resolve billing disputes in deadlock between telecommunications
service providers and their customers outside the judicial system, a voluntary
Customer Complaint Settlement Scheme was set up in November 2012 for a
trial period of two years by the Communications Association of Hong Kong. By a
Memorandum of Understanding signed on 9 October 2012, the Fund has agreed
to contribute the set-up costs and the operating costs to the scheme from 1
November 2012 to 31 October 2014.

During the year, the Fund had contributed HK$904,000 to the scheme. The
outstanding commitment of the Fund to contribute to the scheme as at 31
March 2013 was HK$3,246,000.

22. Related party transactions

Apart from those separately disclosed in the financial statements, the other

material related party transactions for the year are summarised as follows:

(@)  services provided to related parties included advisory and project services
amounting to HK$13,851,000 (2012: HK$9,965,000) and frequency
assignment and protection services amounting to HK$12,771,000 (2012:
HK$12,893,000);

(b) services received from related parties included accommodation, repairs
and maintenance, legal advice, central administration and auditing.
In total, the Fund incurred HK$38,769,000 on these services (2012:
HK$18,395,000); and
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22. REATRIRS (#&) 22. Related party transactions (continued)

(0 MEBEATEESNECEEBIEEMER (©  fixed assets acquired from related parties included telecommunications
B REREEMER - SLEEMREB equipment, furniture and fixtures and motor vehicles. The total amount
1,584.88% (2012 £ : 202.68% for these assets amounted to HK$ 15,848,000 (2012: HK$2,026,000).
JT) °

B A TIRA SR ABE A HIRHEHIARTS > 40 Services provided by or to related parties were charged at the rates payable by
RIRFIRAEARIEM - BIIRATEXNRISEEW  the general public where such services were also available to members of the
2 MZRBREEEATIRM - BlZ+EU public, or on a full cost recovery basis where such services were only available to
IR AHREINE - HEEATAENETEE  related parties. Fixed assets supplied by related parties were charged at full cost.
EETRRAMNE -

MN2013FE3A31HHEBEA T ZMAEERT  Balances with related parties as at 31 March 2013 are set out in the statement of

EIN S A financial position.

23. IR PEEIE 23. Financial risk management

(@) WEBR (@) Investment policy
RIBHEBIMNMAKRER - REBRERRE To provide an ancillary source of income, surplus cash is invested in a
Rem I AMKRERS - REMESBE portfolio of financial instruments. The portfolio includes fixed deposits. It
EHER - @EESBERRE  FTad is the Fund’s policy that all investments in financial instruments should be
MTENKEERBRAKE - principal-protected.

(b) &Rk (b)  Currency risk
B Ekeem TENATESRKIR Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a
EREGRERERSHMKEMNE financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in currency
B o exchange rates.
HREEESRAL IS/ T EHLUE The Fund basically does not have significant exposure to currency risk as
TUET R AR LEAMBEBERNEH substantially all of its financial instruments are denominated in Hong Kong
g - dollars.
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23. ABREBEIE (/&) 23. Financial risk management (continued)

(c) EERE () Creditrisk
FERRESHTIAN—FAFEERR Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to
BEERITEEMSIBE —AEXMBEL discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss.
A ER
LEASNEERREIEZTURNIRITRE The Fund’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank deposits, bank
R SRITHEBRAINEE ST - balances and placement with the Exchange Fund.
RESREEERR - FTERITHER To minimise credit risks, all bank balances and fixed deposits are placed
TE RS ERN B BINFREERIT © with licensed banks in Hong Kong.
ERINERESER  HBBEERKE For the placement with the Exchange Fund, the credit risk is considered to
1K - be low.
LEESNESREENTSEERRME The maximum exposure to credit risk of the financial assets of the Fund is
FNEHRE MR AZEENREE - equal to their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

(d) REBEERERE (d) Liquidity risk

nBES ARSI TRORE K
AR T FIBEI MBI -

SERSHBEIRNRENEMNE
AEBEETHNRBES  KREBRBE
SRR BERALDESEEIMAEN
EANESHR - BRNEBESHEAR R
BHREBES  HASESERKTE
-

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting

obligations associated with financial liabilities.

The Fund manages liquidity risk by forecasting the amount of cash
required and monitoring the working capital of the Fund to ensure that
all liabilities due and known funding requirements could be met. As the
Fund has a strong liquidity position, it has a very low level of liquidity risk.
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23. IBREBEIE (/&) 23. Financial risk management (continued)
(e) FIz=EBE (e) Interest rate risk

BNE

X BRIERT IS REB M| BUEE
MR - MXERAE—T D R/RATFE
NEXEBLBEERENERLE

AFENXERZESH T ANATE
SRS XEEMRBAIER - AR
LEESINATRRITEIIREEAN X
BHE - BHEHNR TR EBEER
HAFERS TR - A > ARELRE
FITREHE R AETIR - THIGA R
TASFELRMEMNESNERN R H
i o

RERENXEREETH T EIRRK
BEMESRTSN REBMKEHIE
b2 - @BEESHMHMBSRENXER
R RENESRANFERE -

BAFM R

Interest rate risk refers to the risk of loss arising from changes in market
interest rates. This can be further classified into fair value interest rate risk
and cash flow interest rate risk.

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
Since all of the Fund's bank deposits bear interest at fixed rates, their fair
values will fall when market interest rates increase. However, as they are
all stated at amortised cost, changes in market interest rates will not affect

their carrying amounts and the Fund’s profit and reserves.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The
Fund’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is small as it has no major
floating-rate investments.
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23. ABREBEIE (/&) 23. Financial risk management (continued)

(f)  HiBA#EEbE ()  Other financial risk
SEACANGFIHEEIEESE The Fund is exposed to financial risk arising from changes in the interest
REZE (MIEE10) BN ZEE S rate on the placement with the Exchange Fund which is determined every
A - R201343A31H » 1£2012 January (note 10). It was estimated that, as at 31 March 2013, a 50 basis
201 3FER SR, EA50EFE 2L point increase/decrease in the interest rates for 2012 and 2013, with all
MEMRZAENERLT @ E5TFE other variables held constant, would increase/decrease the profit for the
BN EEEEIN, R4 318.48%E 7T year and reserves by HK$3,184,000 (2012: HK$2,751,000).

(20124 : 275.1837T) °
(9) 2DAFE (g) Fair values

ERMSERSNE/M T ENATE
RRBEENREMERANTHISRERE
E o AMRERETIEWE - AILIRESK
HitnfH AT AR RS PR AR
BEMEHEATE -

FrE et TR LISEHE A EHESHE
ERRKNESBEMBARREATIR -

The fair values of financial instruments quoted in active markets are based
on their quoted prices at the end of the reporting period. In the absence
of such quoted market prices, fair values are estimated using present value
or other valuation techniques, using inputs based on market conditions
existing at the end of the reporting period.

All financial instruments are stated in the statement of financial position

at amounts equal to or not materially different from their fair values.
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24. ERHEMNEE2013%F3
B 31HIEFEmARENAY
flﬁT #h 2B K sE Ry Bl

=02
ﬁb,‘? i’-

BEEAMHHRERHZA > BESHMAEE
BAZIRMEE] ~ MTERI MR - HhBRENE
F2013F3A3TALLFEHREN  TMRE
RAIEAR Bk PR MAMEST ~ #TZERI &
Y

SEESIEHZFER] - MERLRBEER
TX?H%@F'%EHE@FEE’J%%LW.:HE HEH
IR  EERSEHNERARNZEE
5] #TEAI KRB AR HEBEESHE
TERR R BN TR ERTE -

T B EERNEE] ST ERI A REE 5I B &
HOR SRR A AT A SAE R T OB B

FNE HBERR

24. Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but not
yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2013

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a
number of amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 March 2013 and which have not been early
adopted in these financial statements.

The Fund is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
amendments, new standards and interpretations is expected to be in the period
of initial adoption. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the Fund's results of operations and financial

position.

The following developments may result in new or amended disclosures in future

financial statements:



OFFICE OF THE COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY

TRADING FUND REPORT 2012/13

U ETES

Financial Statements

RAFSERaRpfIEE

(BRHFRIFEERS) » BB £ERELUBMFITL IR )

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

24. ERHEMNEE2013%F3
B 31HIEFEmARENAY
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Re g (78)

24. Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but not
yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2013

(continued)

LT Bk 2 & RaRY

FETHARAR

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after

ERETHEAETIS (RIEFT) THB®RERN
2, NEF] - Hib2EWRIEENER

EREHEAIE1958(2011) TRERF

BRETERE32R TSI R 2R, W
7] —emEERSR B EIEH

EERIDERISEICY T EENE , Ml —

FFEREE W OISERRIKRE

EAVBREERNE TR "SMTE  #KE,

MER] — I - SR EERSR A ERH

BBMHREEAESE "SHMTH,

R BHREERE135% TATEFE,

Amendments to HKAS 1 (Revised), Presentation of
Financial Statements — Presentation of ltems of

Other Comprehensive Income

HKAS 19 (2011), Employee Benefits

Amendments to HKAS 32, Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Offsetting Financial Assets and

Financial Liabilities

Amendments to HKAS 36, Impairment of Assets —
Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures
— Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities

HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments

HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement

2012478 1H
1July 2012

2013F1A1H
1 January 2013

2014FE1R18
1 January 2014

201441R1H
1 January 2014

2013F1R1H
1 January 2013

2015F181H
1 January 2015

2013F1R1H
1 January 2013
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Membership of Advisory Committees

Telecommunications Regulatory Affairs

(ét§2073f£3537 (=) Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2013)
S Chairman
EEELSE Mr Y K HA
BAERSERNATEAESEE (BH) Deputy Director-General (Telecommunications), OFCA
WE Secretary
Elpy e 3 Mr Danny LAU
BNEEEERMATIERE (RE) Assistant Director (Regulatory), OFCA
=B Members
BEEXhEL Dr Victor HUNG
HEEZRESEREK Representative of Consumer Council
MERBA TZEM Ir Andy LAM
ﬁiﬁlfiﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁi Representative of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
NEE Mr Vincent LAM
I%E'ﬁﬂﬁ SEEHENRE Representative of the Institution of Engineering and Technology Hong Kong
FREmALSE Mr Gilbert CHAN
BB ﬂ%ﬂ"* (A& Representative of Communications Association of Hong Kong
Mr Richard MALLETT Mr Richard MALLETT
EEBMAFPBERE Representative of Hong Kong Telecommunications Users Group
BEREE Mr T CHEUNG
ESMIEREEmERE Representative of Hong Kong Wireless Technology Industry Association
BhkEE Mr Charles MOK
@%ﬁuﬂﬂ&ﬁ:ﬂﬁ}ﬁi Representative of Hong Kong Information Technology Federation
B R Mr Alex CHENG
qﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁaﬁﬁ Representative of China Mobile Hong Kong Company Limited /

China Mobile Hong Kong Corporation Limited

RIGESEE
EREFEE)BRATNE

Mr Sutton CHEUNG
Representative of ComNet Telecom (HK) Limited

aHaELt Ms Alison KO
EEBERAERATRE Representative of CSL Limited
FEEs8 s E Mr K K LUK
PSR ERATIRE Representative of HKC Network Limited
BESE Mr Charles YEUNG
EBRAREERATRE Representative of Hong Kong Broadband Network Limited
Mr Simon YU

FRRUEE
ERERERERATKE

Representative of Hong Kong Cable Television Limited

HREEHEE
Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited /
FEHBBFEBRAT MHong Kong Telecommunications
(HKT) Limited / Genius Brand Limitedft3&

Mr Peter LAM

Representative of Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited /
PCCW-HKT Telephone Limited and

Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited / Genius Brand Limited

BEMEE Mr William BROWN

M EFEERAR/ Representative of Hutchison Global Communications Limited /
MERREABRATKFE Hutchison Telephone Company Limited

SREIERE Mr Johnny CHEUNG

FEREBABRATNRE Representative of New World Telecommunications Limited
FXRM@EE Mr TLOR

SmarTone Communications Limited /

BiBENGRARNKRE

Representative of SmarTone Communications Limited /
SmarTone Mobile Communications Limited

Ms Christy DITCHBURN
Telstra International HK Limited and
Telstra International Limitedft,3&

Ms Christy DITCHBURN
Representative of Telstra International HK Limited and
Telstra International Limited

A pRSEE Mr Clifford HO

HLRBESAERERATNE Representative of Towngas Telecommunications Fixed Network Limited
FI=EEbad Mr Kenneth LAU

TraxComm Limitedft 3% Representative of TraxComm Limited

FREEZ+ Ms Agnes TAN

NEBAERATNRE Representative of Wharf T&T Limited

B EIB5E & Mr Y H CHAN

HONEIBARTS / BIEEEE /
ReERE (WINEERE) FEEANINRE

Representative of external FTNS / fixed carrier /
unified carrier (external fixed services) licensees as a group

sEBLEL
TEEREREPERAIRE

Ms Christine LEE
Representative of mobile virtual network operators (MVNOs) as a group

FTE MR
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BREfA %
HHINE ﬂﬁ&%% AU IAYES

Mr Stephen CHAN
Representative of external telecommunications service (ETS) operators as a group

EEX - Mr Raymond WONG
%ﬁ%@”ﬂﬁi‘%%%ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁi Representative of radio paging operators as a group
EERESLLE Mr Allen LAW

RIS R R TR R AR R Representative of services-based operator (SBO) licensees as a group
HBEEEE Mr Eric YEUNG

FRNBI SR Representative of small and medium enterprises
MKERE Mr W C LAM

BEREBRAE Representative of Hong Kong Police Force

PRI EZ L+ Ms Eva CHAN

ERIFEEAL Member appointed on an ad personam basis
REEZ L Ms Y M CHEUNG

ERZEAL Member appointed on an ad personam basis
BJeESRE Mr York MOK

BRIEEAL Member appointed on an ad personam basis

Dr Andrew SIMPSON Dr Andrew SIMPSON

EREFEAT Member appointed on an ad personam basis
HEEL Dr XU Yan

BRIZEEAL Member appointed on an ad personam basis

AR EIREL R PR iiE £
REEEE (#220134#3H31H)

Radio Spectrum and Technical Standards
Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2013)

*E Chairman
gEEsL ~ Mr TF SO
M ERESEENATEIBEE (#1T) Assistant Director (Operations), OFCA
W= Secretary
Ta%EE Mr L H TING

FEAERSIERMASSRER T2 (sALEZ) Senior Telecommunications Engineer (Spectrum Planning) , OFCA
=g Members
EEFEE Mr Brian CHENG
HEEZEGREK Representative of Consumer Council
FhERLE Mr Michael LEE
BRESBERMEEE (BRE) % Representative of EU ICT Council in Hong Kong and Macau
BIFBLELE Mr Raymond CHIU
BERLENRERNRE Representative of Hong Kong Productivity Council
FEAIIEA - B Ir Dr CK LI
EELIEMEBGRE Representative of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
B RE Mr John HO
I%D&ﬂﬁ aaEsax Representative of The Institution of Engineering and Technology Hong Kong
SEfEN S Mr Eric FAN
Z'Kim@uﬂiﬁer%ﬂﬁﬁﬂﬂ{tﬁ Representative of Local industry associations as a group

Mr Alex CHENG

BRREE
PEBEEBBRATDNE

Representative of China Mobile Hong Kong Company Limited /
China Mobile Hong Kong Corporation Limited

EREREE)BRATNE

Mr Chris WONG
Representative of ComNet Telecom (HK) Limited

"BEHELE Mr Leslie WONG
HEREEAERARNRE Representative of CSL Limited
FEEs8 s Mr K K LUK
‘:P%’ﬂ%%ﬁ R Representative of HKC Network Limited
== Mr Charles YEUNG
%%ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁﬁlﬁ/\—ﬁﬁﬁ Representative of Hong Kong Broadband Network Limited
HEREE MrY O WONG

Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited /
FHBBEBRAT MHong Kong Telecommunications
(HKT) Limited / Genius Brand Limitedft3&

Representative of Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited /
PCCW-HKT Telephone Limited and
Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited / Genius Brand Limited

BIREE
M BREARAR /
MERRENERARNE

Mr T M LAU
Representative of Hutchison Telephone Company Limited /
Hutchison Global Communications Limited
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5 S . .
A BIAL RIS TIEAE Radio Spectrum and Technical Standards
RAREE (8) Advisory Committee (continued)
SREIESRE Mr Johnny CHEUNG
HEARBABRATNEK Representative of New World Telecommunications Limited
LSS Mr H C HUNG
Reach Networks Hong Kong Limitedf{ 5 Representative of Reach Networks Hong Kong Limited
RS54 Mr Cyrus LAI
SmarTone Communications Limited / Representative of SmarTone Communications Limited /
ZSmEMERARNE SmarTone Mobile Communications Limited
Mr Jimmy LEE Mr Jimmy LEE
Telstra International HK Limited and Representative of Telstra International HK Limited and
Telstra International Limitedft,5% Telstra International Limited
REE Mr Jason WONG
%éﬁﬁ MERERATIRE Representative of Towngas Telecommunications Fixed Network Limited
BREELE Mr Peter LOK
TraxComm Limitedft3& Representative of TraxComm Limited
BEREE Mr Bill YEUNG
NhEERBRARNE Representative of Wharf T&T Limited
fIEEE Mr W HO
MERBRATE Representative of Asia Television Limited
BRI e MrY C CHAN
@*E?%ﬁﬁ AR/ ERREBEERATREK Representative of Television Broadcasts Limited / TVB Pay Vision Limited
Mr Simon YU
—é;‘%ﬁ%‘?%ﬁﬁ@{&ﬂﬁﬁ Representative of Hong Kong Cable Television Limited
51%? i Mr Carlson CHU
ﬂ&ﬂﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁlﬁ/\—ﬁﬁi Representative of PCCW Media Limited
MEHEE Mr Paul LAM
BEBBEEBERATRE Representative of Hong Kong Commercial Broadcasting Co. Ltd.
SRk E Mr S M KO
TR EFEERARNE Representative of Metro Broadcast Corporation Limited
SRIEE S Mr S TYIU
BREEREREERATNRE Representative of Phoenix U Radio Limited
=B,%§5E$ Mr Francis KWOK
BEBBEAR ﬁi‘% Representative of Radio Television Hong Kong
BRI L Mr X CHEN
EEK?J%%EJEI@@EW@EE Representative of APT Satellite Company Limited
EFREL L Ms Vicky WONG
lEEBRATME Representative of Asia Satellite Telecommunications Co. Ltd.
HONEIBARTS / BIEERE / Representative of external FTNS / fixed carrier / unified carrier (external fixed services)
maEEE (WIHINEERY) FEBABINRER licensees as a group
PREMEE Mr Kenneth CHAN

BRES MRS IR R AR (A BEREB ERHE S & Representative of services-based operators (MVNO and ETS operators only) as a group
Pﬁ&“’fﬁlﬂauﬂﬂfiﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ) =

EERE Mr Johnny SIU

¥§%ﬁiﬁ§-§%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁi Representative of amateur radio societies as a group
BRIELE Mr K W SIT

K BEEERBINE Representative of local certification bodies as a group
st b Mr CK YUEN

RfERFE Representative of Civil Aviation Department
SRIGBASEE Mr H M CHEUNG

EREBERK Representative of Hong Kong Police Force
it Dr S M WONG

BRBABREK Representative of Independent Commission Against Corruption
BiELt Ms P Y NGAI

BEREZEFEAT Member appointed on an ad personam basis
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Telecommunications Users and Consumers

a’é? n'@;c F201343H31H) Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2013)
S Chairman
EEELSE Mr Y K HA
BN EEEERPATEMNESRIEE Deputy Director-General (Telecommunications), OFCA
W= Secretary
BEHLL . Ms Jamay WONG
BNEEEERMATHEESEEEE Head of Consumer Affairs, OFCA
£8 Members

:%,Ef_ Mr Alfred FUNG
/EE%KEF@E Representative of Consumer Council
HBREELE Mr Ricky CHONG
EEBEMERERK Representative of Communications Association of Hong Kong
BRFIZESELE Mr Watson CHAN
abEEeRE Representative of Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce
ARERE Mr Francis FONG
BEEAEAREEENRE Representative of Hong Kong Information Technology Federation
EitELL Ms Leona WONG
EREBNEREAE Representative of Hong Kong Wireless Technology Industry Association
IBEREREL Mr Eric YEUNG
FRNBI SR Representative of small and medium enterprises
RiREzL Ms Irene LEUNG
EERE Representative of The Aged Community
BB seE Mr H F YUEN
FEEALTARE Representative of The Disabled
BIRSEE Mr Ben YU
e ATRFE Representative of The Disabled
EREELL Mr T W SIN
BaERKFE Representative of Education Bureau
EEAEE Mr C K WONG
BREMRE B AT R Representative of Office of the Government Chief Information Officer
HEBExt Ms Elsa CHENG
ARALERE Representative as a member of the public
REFTL Ms Martha LEUNG
NB|ATHE Representative as a member of the public
NRBRLT Ms Florence MAN
NRALTHE Representative as a member of the public
FEEELE Mr Francis NGAI
ARAERE Representative as a member of the public
BIRfERE Mr Thomas SUN
NRATHE Representative as a member of the public
FIRIBEE Mr C B WONG
ARALERE Representative as a member of the public
ELEEgsgun Ms Pauline YUNG
NBMATHE Representative as a member of the public
REEL L Ms Cindy CHAN
NRALTHEER Representative as a member of the public
FRImB 2+ Ms Agnes CHAN
ARANERE Representative as a member of the public
ENEzL Ms Eva WONG
NRATHRE Representative as a member of the public
SimELE Mr K W MA
ERZEAL Member appointed on an ad personam basis
HERELE Mr Kenny CHIU
BERIEEAL Member appointed on an ad personam basis
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e
Appendix C

1£2012 135 E » B2 EB34IERBEHE
32BN EEBMRERITELE - 2013714
FENSERERRFBEFINT -

KRN RBK I ERERE EXRERKIS
MEZITHENTEEXE - EERELYRE
% BARSERBITZTY NIEERER
A -

In 2012/13, we achieved/surpassed our performance targets in 32 out of
our 34 job areas. The full list of our performance targets for 2013/14 is

also set out in the table below.

The level of service we provide is influenced to some extent by exceptional
circumstances and workloads during peak periods. The following table
takes these factors into account and sets out the standard service delivery

times we aim to achieve for a wide range of services.

2012/13%% 2012/ 13FERERBBE | 2012/138F | 2013/ 14 ERERIDAH

EEREER (EIRBEENBAR) ERTORBRE | (BRABRERRESR)

Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average | Service Delivery Standard

Standard for 2012/13 | (% Meeting Service Standard) | Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2012/13 in2012/13 for 2013/14

BRIRETR ARTSRRAREAGE

FEAIEERRED B AR, EAth/A B
SR B R

Non-domestic Television Programme 4
Service / Other Licensable Television
Programme Service

BRIR BN AR ARG

Processing of Broadcasting Service Licence Applications

fEA

months

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications

100% 100% | 4o

(100%)

BEERER TR
Mobile Radio System Licence
LD 3 \;oil}rfg%days 98% 100% 3 V\’(ﬁ(ﬁg%days (98%)

Establishment of a new system

&Y,/ MRENES 3

Relocation / Addition of base station

ETER

working days

fETER

working days

98% 100% | 3 (98%)

nRBEES

Addition of mobile station

MTEA BIfER

working days

For stations of taxis

HiEa 8 (ERRIZS

working days

For other stations

99% 100% | Siwwes (99%)
99% 100% | 8lwwes (99%)

ERBEEOHEN

Replacement of mobile station equipment

WEEA 5 fETEXR

working days

For stations of taxis

HiE e 8 TR

working days

For other stations

99% 100% | Sl (99%)
99% 100% = 8l (99%)

85 FTE MR



OFFICE OF THE COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY  TRADING FUND REPORT 2012/13

BEIRBANARISHRAREAGE (#F)

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications (continued)

BEERBAFER ()

2012 /135 2012/ 13FERBREBE | 2012/ 13EFE 2013 /14 EEIZERIERE

EEREER (ZEREEENBNE) ERTIORBRE | (BRAARERRES)

Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average | Service Delivery Standard

Standard for 2012/13 | (% Meeting Service Standard) | Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2012/13 in2012/13 for 2013/14

Mobile Radio System Licence (continued)

BIEE LR

Replacement of base station equipment

8 TR

working days

99%

100%

fETER
working days

BRER

Issue of licence

8 EIEXR

working days

99%

100%

ATEXR

working days

EIRBRER

Radio Dealers Licence

4 ETIEXR

working days

99%

100%

4 fETER

working days

T2 RBLEBEE TR
Industrial Scientific and Medlical
Electronic Machines Licence

5 ETIEXR

working days

99%

100%

5 fETER

working days

FIRBAEMNES M LEIEN
BERR

Radiodetermination and Conveyance
of Commands, Status and Data

Licence

5 ETIEXR

working days

99%

100%

5 fETER

working days

HESHEARARIFER
Satellite Master Antenna Television
Licence

1 ETIER

working days

98%

99.9%

1 ATER
working days

WA SRR
Ship Station Licence

9 ETIEXR

working days

99%

100%

fETER

working days

ERBOMER

Amateur Station Licence

9 ETER

working days

99%

100%

9 TR

working days

B HINERAR TR
Self-provided External
Telecommunications System (SPETS)
Licence

2 TR

working days

99%

WEMER
No new case

2 ETER

working days

F—RREZERBEMHPER
Services-based Operator Licence —
Class 1 and Class 2 Services

1 ETIER

working days

98%

100%

1 ETHER

working days

EERBEMEERR
Services-based Operator Licence —
Class 3 Services

1 EIER

working days

99%

100%

1 ETER

working days
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2012/13%¢ 2012/ 13EERBERFEE | 2012/13FE | 2013 /14 FEEERIEHE

EEREER (ZEREEENBNE) ERTIORBRE | (BRAARERRES)

Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average | Service Delivery Standard

Standard for 2012/13 | (% Meeting Service Standard) | Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2012/13 in2012/13 for 2013/14

RiZE CBEHEI - FEMEIHEEERAK) EIEBAERFZRA

Processing of Certificate and Endorsement Appllcatlons under the International Convention on
Standards of Training, Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers (STCW Convention)

2B LBRNREAFEREN
Rk

. . BETER EIER
Global Maritime Distress and Safety 5w0rking days 95% 1 00% working days (95%)
System (GMDSS) Certificate and
Endorsement

ﬂ%ﬂ?téﬁﬁﬁﬁ?é%ﬁ%{éﬁ%
ERENE BT ETER
GMDSS C}Eeirtiicate of Equivalent 5W§kin§days 95 % 1 00% Wo%king days (95 %)

Competency and Endorsement

BIRETERAET

Investigation of Radio Interference

HEERBHTE EOETERMETES EOETHERRETES
Interference on Investigation within 96 % 1 00 % Investigation within (96%)
commercial services 6 working days 6 working days
HERFHBOTE FOBTERMETHE FOBT{ERME TS
Interference on broadcasting Investigation within 96 % 1 00 % Investigation within (96%)
services 9 working days 9 working days

BRIRARES / FENSERGE

Processing of Applications for Numbers/Codes

FERC BN RAS RS

Assignment of telecommunications 1 \Eﬁlﬁg%days 1 00% 1 00% 1 v’o]r:kllrfgidays (1 OO%)

numbers and codes

Bix ~ AU E A ERES
e 105, | 100% | 100% | 1055, (100%)

numbers

BRIFARIMREEER (BRE (HIREMES) R61) - (EREED) - (BFMEGI) FENASD - ERERRRSEG - HEEE
BrANEREERSF (BF (EREG) RPMEXAREFRI)

Handling of Complaints about Broadcasting Matters involving Suspected Breach of the Broadcasting

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, the Broadcasting Ordinance, Part lllA of the Telecommunications
Ordinance, the terms or conditions of a Broadcasting Licence, or the Broadcasting Codes of Practice (except for
complaints relating to Competition Provisions of the Broadcasting Ordinance)

o i eoly B 100%  99.7% | 6%, (100%)
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2012/13%¢ 2012/ 13EERBERFEE | 2012/13FE | 2013 /14 FEEERIEHE

EEREER (ZEREEENBNE) ERTIORBRE | (BRAARERRES)

Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average | Service Delivery Standard

Standard for 2012/13 | (% Meeting Service Standard) | Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2012/13 in2012/13 for 2013/14

RIFERIREER (ERE (HIRIEX) 1&61)  (EREEGD - (EMEE) FNAZ - ERERBERSEY « ERER
BrANERSEERSF (BF (EREG) RPEAREFRIN) (F)

Handling of Complaints about Broadcasting Matters involving Suspected Breach of the Broadcasting

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, the Broadcasting Ordinance, Part llIA of the Telecommunications
Ordinance, the terms or conditions of a Broadcasting Licence, or the Broadcasting Codes of Practice (except for
complaints relating to Competition Provisions of the Broadcasting Ordinance) (continued)

BEARERERBRRFA
BEEHER® (NAKBERE
R AIAKRARSER)

ot comes ot v A 3 s 100% 100% | 3i  (100%)

investigation® (or report of
progress to the complainant if
results of cases are not ready)

R ETHERENR SR
IR ABBIEARREIR
(AR BERBFR - BlM
BIFRABRSERE)
Inform complainants of the CA's BEH 0 0 BEH 0
decision on complaints involving a 8W39k5 100 /0 99'9 /0 8W€ek5 (1 OO A))
straightforward investigation®
(or report of progress to the

complainant if CA's decision is not
ready)

AFEETEMATHRFBAR
FRABBEBABAVFOR® (SR
BENRNEOR  BIRRHFARS
) i .
inform complainants of the CAs 40 100% 100% | 45 (100%)
decision on complaints involving a
complex investigation® (or report of
progress to the complainant if CA's
decision is not ready)

REAREMEHBRRER (EMRG) AEMRBEREEHEERR

Handllng of Consumer Complaints against Telecommunications Operators involving Suspected Breach of the
Telecommunications Ordinance or Licence Conditions of the Telecommunications Service Licences

fEIERHFA H(: ijgtﬂiﬁﬁéﬁ%ﬁi

s Bl T
Fﬁuﬁepljt%o ir?p/lainft)(or interim 2 Vr(fklﬁgidays 90% 100% 27 V\’i'ﬁgidaw (90%)
reply if full reply is not ready)

6 HUEIRFAFRRAERIE

Upon receipt of sufficient information from complainants
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2012 /135 2012/ 13FERBREBE | 2012/ 13EFE
EEREER (ZEREEENBNE) ERTIORBRR
Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average
Standard for 2012/13 | (% Meeting Service Standard) | Performance

for 2012/13 in2012/13

RIBSHEEWEMAT (BRI HRFRCS RSN SRR 1T B HIR B ER

2013/ 14 FERERERE
(BREABRERREE)

Service Delivery Standard
(Performance Target in Bracket)

for 2013/14

Handling of Complaints against Operators relating to Competition Provisions or Misleading or Deceptive
Conduct Provisions of the Telecommunications Ordinance

FTHAE (RS » A
MR FABRESERE )

Completion of investigation

(or report of progress to the
complainant if investigation is not
completed)

1T BEYR X AVIRERER I )

EFESEMEARN
Within a further
4-month period from
the commencement
of the investigation

80% 100%

EFRASEIEAR
Within a further
4-month period from
the commencement
of the investigation

(80%)

Handling of Industry Complaints against Operators (except for complaints relating to Competition Provisions and
Misleading or Deceptive Conduct Provisions of the Telecommunications Ordinance) involving Suspected Breach
of the Telecommunications Ordinance or Licence Conditions of the Telecommunications Services Licences

ST E (SRR
AT BB HFARSEE)
Completion of full investigation
(or report of progress to the
complainant if full investigation is
not completed)

45[ETERA
Within
45 working days

90% 100%

BRIEARIREER (FFEHTBFASEM) 9RR

45(ETERA
Within
45 working days

(90%)

Handling of Reports on Suspected Contravention of the Unsolicited Electronic Messages Ordinance

ST TS (SNARTTRGE
AE - BRI R ARSERE)
Completion of full investigation
(or report of progress to the
complainant if full Investigation is
not completed)

10{EE HA
Within10 weeks

90% | 95.88%

HEFABAMWRBNAREARIFELEE

Reply to Public Enquiries and C

omplaints of OFCA’s Services

10{EEHA
Within 10 weeks

(90%)

HHEER (SRR
HEE - AR TS EE) TET{ERR TEIfERA
Full reply for enquiries (or interim Within 90% 1 00% Within (90%)
reply if full reply cannot be 7 working days 7 working days
provided)
HHIRIERT (AR TTR AT
S RIREE AR 15{ATIERA 15{ELERA
Full reply for complaints (or report i 0 0 Al 0
of progress to the complainant 15 W\gmg days 90 A) 1 00 A) 15W\é\$mg days (90 A))
if full investigation is not
completed)
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hRBR R 3 BB

Licences Issued and Renewed

35BN EIE R B
%SIEEHIH&ZEI’\JHEE

Broadcasting and Telecommunications Licences
Issued / Renewed and Revenue Collected

(BZE20135F3[31 HEEA)

(For the year ended 31 March 2013)

/BB
No. of Licences BT
leREs Type of Licences Issued / Renewed HK$
Broadcasting Licences
i BB R B RS Domestic Free Television Programme Service 2 14,863,367
AW ESRE B RS Domestic Pay Television Programme Service 3 12,064,804
JEARELRE B IRTS Non-domestic Television Programme Service 18 1,035,748
Hi/EBE B R E R Other Licensable Television Programme Service 26 949,943
BEER Sound Broadcasting 5 16,851,814
R AE EE Telecommunications Licences / Permits / Certificates
BMEERENRE Academic Institution Self-provided Telecommunications Installation 3 10,500
MEESEXEEEER Aeronautical VHF Fixed Station 30 50,000
MEREE Aircraft Station 320 45,650
EMBIERREEA Amateur ATO 573 91,680
ES ) Amateur Station 2,591 392,362
B EEREREANEREEER Broadcast Radio Relay Station & Broadcast Relay Station 14 12,330
mEER Duplicate Licence 54 2,970
EANEREE Examination & Issue of Certificate 454 149,850
ERSA Experimental Station 93 28,150
BREIEEEEE Fixed Carrier (Restricted) 1 603,825
EEEXEEBRENMBEEENEMRE  Fixed Carrier Licence for Terrestrial Television Broadcast 2 19,488,464
& Telecommunications Service

EEBNBERBIEEEEE Fixed Telecommunications Network Services or Fixed Carrier 18 22,214,583
BIEEE () Hotel Television (Transmission) 138 554,421
AL/ HOFFAE Import/Export Permit 996 149,400
T RNERBEETHEM Industrial, Scientific & Medical Electronic Machine 877 98,133
BEERE Mobile Carrier 1 838,117
BRyEBEBERE Mobile Carrier (Restricted) 1 53,750
BEHERERNIEABHEEERR Mobile Radio System or Private Mobile Radio System 4,455 31,000,510
LAEREETRR Private Radio Paging System 17 199,124
NG ERARE Public Radiocommunications Service 10 2,549,942
EIRER (MERSE) Radio Dealers (Unrestricted) 2,821 4,082,375
MIRBRAMER Radiocommunications School 7 2,100
IS ERELINIES « RN EREX Radiodetermination and Conveyance of Commands, Status and Data 117 127,327
BEBELARER Satellite Master Antenna Television 76 5,250,575
E%ﬁ%%ﬁﬂ?ﬁ: Self-provided External Telecommunications System 9 6,750
RIEEMN — B BB _ERE Services-based Operator of Class 1 or 2 Service 16 1,301,139
RIS E MR — “’_*EE%% Services-based Operator of Class 3 Service 508 11,621,062
fmER Ship Station 3,015 436,637
RS Space Station Carrier 10 1,801,750
TR EENRE Taxi Radiocommunications Service 27 646,129
GRERE — RERE Unified Carrier - Mobile Services 7| 175,839,553
IREERE — "R HINE TR Unified Carrier - Fixed Internal/External Services 26| 86,654,978
PR PSR Wide Band Link & Relay Station 66 142,487
b Total 17,407 | 412,212,299
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